

# Early childhood care: Accessibility and quality of services







# Early childhood care: Accessibility and quality of services

#### When citing this report, please use the following wording:

Eurofound (2015), *Early childhood care:* Accessibility and quality of services, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

**Authors and research managers:** Daniel Molinuevo and Daphne Ahrendt **Eurofound research project:** Assessing childcare services in Europe

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2015

Cataloguing data can be found at the end of this publication.

Print: ISBN 978-92-897-1376-4 doi:10.2806/747597 TJ-01-15-145-EN-C PDF: ISBN 978-92-897-1375-7 doi:10.2806/53824 TJ-01-15-145-EN-N

© European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, 2015

For rights of translation or reproduction, applications should be made to the Director, European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, Wyattville Road, Loughlinstown, Dublin 18, Ireland.

The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Eurofound) is a tripartite European Union Agency, whose role is to provide knowledge in the area of social and work-related policies. Eurofound was established in 1975 by Council Regulation (EEC) No. 1365/75, to contribute to the planning and design of better living and working conditions in Europe.

European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions

Telephone (+353 1) 204 31 00

Email: information@eurofound.europa.eu Web: www.eurofound.europa.eu

## Europe Direct is a service to help you find answers to your questions about the European Union.

Freephone number (\*): 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11

(\*) Certain mobile telephone operators do not allow access to 00 800 numbers or these calls may be billed.

Cover image: © Shutterstock

Printed in Luxembourg

The paper used in this book is chlorine-free and comes from managed forests in Northern Europe. For every tree felled, at least one new tree is planted.

#### **Country codes for EU Member States**

AT	Austria	
BE	Belgium	
BG	Bulgaria	
CY	Cyprus	
CZ	Czech Republic	
DE	Germany	
DK	Denmark	
EE	Estonia	
EL	Greece	
ES	Spain	
FI	Finland	
FR	France	
HR	Croatia	
ни	Hungary	

IE	Ireland	
IT	Italy	
LT	Lithuania	
LU	Luxembourg	
LV	Latvia	
MT	Malta	
NL	Netherlands	
PL	Poland	
PT	Portugal	
RO	Romania	
SE	Sweden	
SI	Slovenia	
SK	Slovakia	
UK	United Kingdom	

#### **Acknowledgement:**

The report draws on the findings of a systematic review by the Public Policy and Management Institute (PPMI), Vilnius, the Centre for Innovation in the Early Years (VBJK), Ghent, and the Institute of Education at the University of London. It also draws heavily on case studies and European overviews on additional resources for children with disabilities (VBJK and PPMI), disadvantages (VBJK and PPMI), and difficulties (Ramboll Management). It also benefits from comments from the authors of the systematic review and case studies, as well as from Ipsos Mori, Eva Lloyd (University of East London), Eric Plaisance (Université Paris Descartes) and Mary Kyriazopoulou (European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education).

#### **List of abbreviations**

ABA applied behaviour analysis

ASD autistic spectrum disorders

ADHD attention deficit hyperactivity disorder

CDI Childhood Development Initiative

CEE central and eastern Europe

CPD continuing professional development

ECEC early child education and care

ECERS Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale

EIBI early intensive behavioral intervention

PCF parent/carer facilitator

PEIPs parenting early intervention programmes

RCT randomised control trial

SEN special educational needs

SLI specific language impairment

SLT speech and language therapy

## **Contents**

Executive su	ımmary	1
Introduction	ı	5
1 – Early chi	ldhood education and care in context	7
2 – Methodo	ology	11
	Systematic review	11
3 – Findings	of the systematic review	17
	Main findings on impact of working conditions on ECEC  Main findings on impact of CPD on outcomes for children	17
	and quality of ECEC Conclusions	19 27
4 – Services	for children in a vulnerable situation	33
	Introduction	33
	Children with disabilities and ECEC services	35
	Children with difficulties and ECEC services	38
	Children from a disadvantaged background and ECEC services	39
5 – Inclusive	practices in ECEC	43
	Children with disabilities or difficulties	43
	Children with disadvantages	47
	Making services more inclusive	49
6 – Lessons	learnt from case studies	53
	Case studies on additional resources for children with disabilities or difficulties	53
	Case studies on making services more inclusive for all children	56
Conclusions		59
Conclusions	Transferability	<b>59</b>
	Sustainability	59
	Evaluation	60
Bibliograph	/	63
Annex 1		73
Annex 2: Ad	lditional resources provided	75
	Teacher training	75
	Specialised interventions/Individualised education plans	79
	Additional staff	81
	Additional funding	82

### **Executive summary**

#### Introduction

This report focuses on access to and quality of early childhood education and care (ECEC) services, two dimensions that have gained increasing importance in the political agenda in Europe since the 2011 Communication from the Commission *Early childhood education and care: Providing all our children with the best start for the world of tomorrow*. More concretely, it presents evidence regarding the elements of working conditions and in-service training that increase the quality of early childhood education and care; it also presents examples of successful practices when it comes to making services more inclusive for children in a vulnerable situation. A systematic review of research studies from Europe identifies which types of training and which elements of working conditions have the greatest influence on the quality of services. Such a review is a useful tool in providing policy guidance, as it gives a good overview of the aggregated results of different studies. As for the accessibility of services, the report describes good practices gathered in the form of case studies that have been evaluated and that describe additional resources for the inclusion of children with disabilities or learning difficulties, or who come from a disadvantaged background, in mainstream ECEC services.

#### **Policy context**

For a long time the emphasis at the EU level was on the availability of ECEC places and on the relevance of ECEC for work–life balance, but the importance of quality and the role of ECEC in achieving social inclusion has become more prominent in the last decade. In its 2011 Communication, the European Commission highlights the situation of children with disabilities, learning difficulties and disadvantages, reaffirming that high-quality ECEC is particularly beneficial for these groups and that ECEC provides an opportunity for early detection and intervention of learning difficulties. Similarly, the European Commission recommendation *Investing in children: breaking the cycle of disadvantage* highlights the need to focus policies on children who face an increased risk due to multiple disadvantage and points out that ECEC should be of high quality, inclusive and affordable, as well as adapted to the needs of families. Current work from the OECD and the European Commission, regarding the quality of ECEC, highlights the importance of having a qualified and motivated workforce and the need to increase efforts to make services more accessible for children in a vulnerable situation.

#### **Key findings**

Benefits of continuing professional development: Continuing professional development plays a key role, both in improving the outcomes of children using ECEC services and making services more inclusive. Studies included in an earlier systematic literature review contracted out by Eurofound show that training is more effective when it is integrated in the practice of ECEC centres – for instance, delivered in the workplace, dealing with practical issues, or involving coaching and/or discussions with colleagues. In the case of training courses lasting up to six months, a video feedback component has a positive impact on the language acquisition and cognitive development of children and on the competencies of practitioners in caregiving and language stimulation. Long-term pedagogical support to staff, provided by specialised coaches or pedagogical counsellors in reflection groups, was found to be effective in enhancing the quality of ECEC services over a long period of time. There is also evidence of its positive impact on children's cognitive and social outcomes.

**Training on inclusion:** Training on inclusion focuses on teaching practitioners how to interact with children, parents and staff from other organisations (for instance, Roma mediators). The incentives given to increase the take-up of voluntary training courses include financial incentives, or some type of certification within the framework of a wider training scheme (for instance, becoming a licensed practitioner). To make services more inclusive for all children, emphasis is placed on ensuring that all stakeholders have a common understanding of the concept of inclusion.

**Differing quality of evidence:** Overall, the evidence available regarding the impact of working conditions on the quality of ECEC services is less robust than that of the studies dealing with training. This lack of robustness is an issue, as it is necessary to establish causality accurately in complex interventions such as ECEC. Some of the gaps identified in research include the impact of short-term training courses integrated into ECEC practices without a video feedback component, and the lack of integration of courses into the ECEC practice, as well as the impact on staff—child interactions of long-term training integrated into practices through the provision of continuous support to practitioners. Furthermore, there is a research gap regarding the retention of the effects of training over the longer term.

**Shortage of suitable studies:** While the systematic review process included a search for studies in all 28 EU Member States and in all the official languages of the EU, articles with the adequate scope and methodological design and rigour were found in only 12 countries (Belgium, Croatia, Denmark, Germany, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal, Sweden, Slovenia, Spain and the UK).

Lack of robust evaluations of practice: Similarly, there are few robust evaluations (such as randomised controlled trials or quasi-experimental evaluations) of inclusive practices in ECEC, particularly when it comes to additional resources for children with learning difficulties. The views of children, who are the ultimate beneficiaries of these practices, are seldom part of the evaluations, which tend to focus on the views of practitioners and parents. Just under half the case studies were evaluated independently by external evaluators.

#### **Policy pointers**

- In-service training is more effective when it is integrated in ECEC practice and includes some type of feedback element. Video feedback in training of less than six months' duration has proved effective in strengthening practitioners' care-giving and language stimulation skills. It also has a positive impact on children's language acquisition and cognitive development.
- More robust research evidence is needed on the impact of working conditions and inclusive practices.
- The added value of additional resources in inclusive practices can be increased by adapting existing training to different audiences (for instance, changing a course for parents to meet the needs of practitioners) or offering training resources online. In some cases, an incentive for ECEC centres to take part in the projects was the fact that they would have priority in getting extra funding in the future.
- Building partnerships between ECEC centres and institutions like non-governmental organisations or social services improves outreach to children in a vulnerable situation.
- Involving local authorities is perceived as essential in implementing the changes, as ECEC services cannot implement changes on their own (from a financial and from a policy leverage

perspective). It also allows for continuous feedback and interaction between policy and practice. To establish effective partnerships with other stakeholders it is important to have a common understanding of the goals and how to achieve them.

- Joint activities for children with special needs and other children remove the stigma that can be associated with particular additional resources.
- The gap between mainstream provision and additional support measures has to be narrowed to make practices transferable and sustainable. In particular, the lack of qualified staff in mainstream ECEC services constitutes a serious barrier to making services more inclusive.

### Introduction

This report presents the main findings of Eurofound's research project 'Assessing childcare services', which was carried out in 2013 and 2014. The project links two priorities of Eurofound's 2013–2016 work programme: improving working conditions, and improving standards of living and promoting social cohesion. Eurofound's work programme for this period also seeks to look at the accessibility, quality and sustainability of public services (the focus of this project). The aim of this research project is to make an evidence-based case about how to improve the accessibility and quality of early childhood education and care (ECEC), two issues that have been the main focus of recent policy and research initiatives carried out by the EU (European Commission, 2014a) and the OECD (2012). Quality and accessibility are intertwined: data from Eurofound's 2012 European Quality of Life Survey (EQLS) show that less difficulty in accessing childcare services results in a higher perceived quality of service (Eurofound, 2013). Conversely, poor quality of services constitutes a barrier to accessing services, with 27% of Europeans stating that the poor quality of services made it difficult to access them (Eurofound, 2012).

While there is consensus in the policy discourse that the working conditions and training opportunities of ECEC staff are crucial for the quality of services, the work of the OECD (2012) indicates that there is not enough research showing a clear link between these two elements and the outcomes for children. Furthermore, it is apparent that the working conditions and training opportunities of staff do not match the importance given to early childhood education and care at the policy level. A background paper drafted by Eurofound as preparatory work for this research project (Eurofound, 2014b) pointed out such issues as the lack of training opportunities and career progression, and the use of temporary contracts. It also found that guidelines regarding group size and staff-child ratio were not always followed. It is therefore important to make an evidence-based case for further investment in the workforce in this sector. In this context, a systematic review is a useful tool to show which forms of continuing professional development (CPD) and which types of interventions in working conditions are the most effective in improving the quality of services. Systematic reviews provide guidance to policymakers reforming services by pointing out 'what works'. Only six relevant literature reviews had been carried out at the time the background paper went to publication: two on ECEC quality and its relationship to child outcomes (Mitchell et al, 2008 and Vandell and Wolfe, 2000) and four on the impact of continuing professional development and staff working conditions (Huntsman, 2008; Munton et al, 2002; Zaslow et al, 2010; Fukkink and Lont, 2007). Only one of these reviews can be considered systematic in its methods (Fukkink and Lont, 2007). This report presents the main findings from a new systematic review that brings together for the first time research evidence from several EU Member States and covers languages other than English (Eurofound, 2015). This provides an overview of the state of research in Europe on this topic and indicates the main research gaps.

In addition to looking into the role of the workforce in increasing the quality of services, this report describes inclusive practices that make services more accessible. The main barriers to access to childcare services identified by the EQLS are cost (which makes it difficult to use these services for 59% of interviewees), availability (58%), physical access (41%) and quality (27%) (Eurofound, 2012). Tackling these barriers alone does not immediately make services more accessible. There are issues such as language barriers, knowledge of bureaucratic procedures, waiting lists, or priorities set by management that may pose a problem for poor families, or those from an ethnic minority background if they are not taken into consideration in ECEC access policies (Vandenbroeck and Lazzari, 2014). Staff may be unaccustomed to interacting with families from a disadvantaged or ethnic minority background. This is critical: research shows that quality ECEC services have a particularly beneficial

impact on children who are in a vulnerable situation because of their socioeconomic background, a disability, or behavioural problems. Children from these groups need equal access and for services to be made more inclusive through the provision of additional funding, staff and materials (OECD, 2007). It is also important to bear in mind that while inclusion requires additional resources, inclusive settings can be more cost-effective than having separate mainstream and special-education settings (OECD, 1999). Moreover, all children reap the benefits of more inclusive services, as providing such services forces teachers to devote more energy to the curriculum to ensure it is appropriate to the learning needs of all children; this in turn increases teachers' overall teaching skills (Peters, 2003).

This report describes the main features of 15 case studies on the use of additional resources for children who require greater support due to disability, learning difficulties or coming from a disadvantaged background. Despite the emphasis on investing in evidence-based practices, there are very few examples from Europe of successful inclusive practices in early childhood education and care that have been evaluated. These case studies therefore contribute towards identifying evidence-based practices in an area where there is a research gap.

# 1

# Early childhood education and care in context

#### **EU policy context**

The importance, quality and accessibility of ECEC are increasingly being stressed at EU level. For a long period the emphasis at EU level was on the availability of ECEC places and on the relevance of ECEC for parents' work–life balance, but the importance of quality and the role of ECEC in assisting social inclusion have become more prominent in the past decade (European Commission, 2008a, 2011a and 2011b; European Council, 2009a and 2009b). In its 2011 Communication, the Commission points out the situation of children with disabilities, learning difficulties and disadvantages, reaffirming that high-quality ECEC is particularly beneficial for these groups and that ECEC provides an opportunity for early detection of and intervention in learning difficulties (European Commission, 2011a). Similarly, in its recommendation for investing in children, the European Commission (2013b) states that all relevant policies should focus on children who face an increased risk due to multiple disadvantage and points out that ECEC should be high-quality, inclusive and affordable, as well as adapted to the needs of families. Moreover, the importance of quality ECEC provision for social inclusion and the need to make greater efforts are mentioned in policy initiatives in relation to the Roma (European Commission, 2010), migrants (European Council, 2009a, 2009b) and the promotion of mental health (European Commission, 2008b).

During 2013 and 2014 a Thematic Working Group organised by the European Commission developed a proposal for principles of a Quality Framework for Early Childhood Education and Care (European Commission, 2014a), which contains several statements dealing with the themes of this report. It contains five areas and 10 statements that have been agreed by representatives from ministries responsible for ECEC from all 28 Member States.¹ Regarding accessibility (which is considered a component of quality), the quality statements set out that high-quality ECEC requires 'provision that encourages participation, strengthens social inclusion and embraces diversity'. Regarding the workforce, the emphasis is put on the fact that 'professional development has a huge impact on the quality of staff pedagogy and children's outcomes' and on the fact that good working conditions can make the ECEC sector a more attractive professional option, thus reducing staff turnover (European Commission, 2014a, p. 9). The Commission will follow up this work by identifying indicators and gathering data from Member States (that go beyond the data gathered by Eurydice in 2014) regarding what is being done in relation to the areas and statements included in the quality framework. This will be used as the basis for proposing a tool with indicators.

#### **ECEC** policy context

In understanding the findings presented in this report it is useful to consider the ECEC policy context, and in particular the many different settings in which ECEC systems operate across Europe.

Much of the variety in ECEC settings stems from different ideological traditions across Europe with regard to the role of the welfare state, which influences the participation of women in the labour market and the development of ECEC (Esping-Andersen, 1990 and 1999; Korpi, 2000; Kamerman, 2003; Leitner, 2003; Bambra, 2007; Cho, 2014). To understand these different traditions in the context of social policy, there is a body of literature that provides typologies specifically focused on grouping different types of family policy regimes (Eurofound, 2014a).

<sup>1</sup> The five areas are: access; workforce; the curriculum; evaluation and monitoring; and governance and funding.

Building on these typologies, Eurofound assessed a number of family policies and assigned each EU Member State to one of four groups on a spectrum, from the most flexible family policies to the most traditional. Countries that show comparatively favourable situations in terms of female employment, childcare participation rates, and parental leave policies are understood to be most flexible whereas the most traditional countries are at the other end of the spectrum. Eurofound's approach assesses countries according to the extent to which policies make it possible to move away from the traditional male breadwinner model towards more flexible patterns. To achieve this, Eurofound assessed differences in leave policies, family allowances and work–life balance priorities (including childcare availability). Macro-level statistics, including the proportion of children under the age of three enrolled in formal childcare, were also included in the assessment (Eurofound, 2014a).

This country grouping serves as a starting point to understanding the different ECEC policy settings. But a categorisation developed by the OECD of policy approaches to children under three and their parents (Starting Strong II) is also included. In this categorisation, countries are evaluated in terms of state support for provision of care for children under three, and state support for the provision of parental leave. This results in four approaches.

- Central European countries use approach A, which is characterised by strong state support for parental leave but weak support for services for children under three.
- 'Approach B' countries adopt a liberal economy model: this means weak support for parental leave with modest to moderate state support for childcare services. In the EU, only Ireland and the UK follow this approach. They are also among the very few Member States where there is no public ECEC provision. In Ireland this holds for children both younger and older than five years of age, whereas in the UK it applies only to children under three (Eurydice et al, 2014).<sup>2</sup>
- Continental European countries belong to approach C. In these countries there tends to be moderate state support for parental leave and moderate support for provision for children aged under three.
- Finally, approach D is used by the Nordic countries. This is characterised by strong state support for parents, with well-developed services for children aged under three. Figure 1, taken from the OECD Starting Strong II Report, presents the typology.

Public ECEC provision is also not available for the youngest age group in the French- and German-speaking communities of Belgium. In the Netherlands, provision of childcare for the youngest age group is mostly private.

Approach D – the Nordic countries

Approach C – Continental
European countries

Approach B – Countries adopting
a liberal economy model

Approach A – Central European Countries

State support for the provision of parental leave

Low

High

Figure 1: Policy approaches to children aged under three and to their parents

Source: OECD (2006)

To look at what type of ECEC system is in place, a categorisation is used that distinguishes between the four different systems.

- 1. Firstly, countries are divided on a dichotomy of unitary versus split system. (In unitary systems, administrative and policy responsibility for ECEC rests with a single government department; in split systems, responsibility is split between two departments.)
- 2. In a second layer, unitary-system countries are subdivided into those whose ECEC systems are fully integrated along four key dimensions (access, regulation, funding and workforce), and those where one or more of these key dimensions is not fully integrated.
- 3. Split-system countries can be subdivided depending on whether provision is care-based or school-based. In school-based systems, ECEC services are provided to a majority of children, usually with most children from three years of age attending some form of ECEC provision for a three-year period. In the care-based systems, educational provision is limited to a period of two years or less, and childcare provision extends to children up to three years of age and, in some cases, for a substantial proportion of children aged over three years (Baxter and Hand, 2013).
- 4. Finally, the report includes a perspective on the Barcelona targets,<sup>3</sup> on the assumption that in countries that have not met the target and where the uptake of ECEC is low, the first priority would be to develop the ECEC profession and to increase the availability of ECEC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> According to the Barcelona targets set by the European Council in 2002, Member States needed to provide – by 2010 – formal childcare for at least 90% of children aged between three years and the mandatory school age and for at least 33% of children aged under three years.

**Table 1: ECEC policy typology** 

Member State	Policy approaches (OECD)	ECEC system*	2013 Barcelona targets for 0–3 year-olds met (in 2013)
Most flexible			
Belgium	Approach C	S-SB	Yes
Denmark	Approach D	U-FI	Yes
Finland	Approach D	U-FI	No
Netherlands	Approach C	S-CB	Yes
Sweden	Approach D	U-FI	Yes
UK	Approach B	U-NFI	Yes
Mainly flexible			
Austria	Approach A	U-NFI	No
Cyprus	Approach C	S-SB	No
Germany	Approach A	U-NFI	No
France	Approach C	S-SB	Yes
Ireland	Approach B	S-CB	No
Luxembourg	Approach C	S-SB	Yes
Portugal	Approach C	S-SB	Yes
Slovenia	Approach A	U-FI	Yes
Mainly traditional			
Czech Republic	Approach A	S-SB	No
Hungary	Approach A	S-SB	No
Latvia	Approach A	U-NFI	No
Malta	Approach C	S-SB	No
Poland	Approach A	S-SB	No
Romania	Approach A	S-SB	No
Slovakia	Approach A	S-SB	No
Most traditional			
Bulgaria	Approach A	S-SB	No
Croatia	Approach A	S-SB	No
Estonia	Approach A	U-NFI	No
Greece	Approach C	S-SB	No
Italy	Approach C	S-SB	No
Lithuania	Approach A	U-NFI	No
Spain	Approach C	U-NFI	Yes

Note: \* ECEC system abbreviations: UFI = Unitary, fully integrated; U-NFI = Unitary, not fully integrated; S-SB = Split, school-based; S-CB = Split, care-based.

Countries where the approach is shown in bold were not covered by the OECD and have been assigned by the authors of this report.

Assessing these three elements against the country groups identified in Eurofound's family policy typology produces a scattered picture, although several messages appear. It is evident that the unitary-fully integrated system is only present in the (more) flexible countries. In this group, Approach D prevails (strong support for parents and well-developed services for children under three). An important feature of these countries is the universal access available to children under the age of three. The competency levels of ECEC staff are generally higher in these countries (CoRe, 2011).

In Chapter 3 of this report, in the section 'Main findings on impact of CPD on outcomes for children and quality of ECEC', the country grouping will also be used to contextualise differences in the extent to which continuous professional development (CPD) is regulated and governed across Europe.

This report brings together the findings and conclusions of several research outputs. As a preliminary preparation for the systematic review, Eurofound drafted a working paper (Eurofound, 2014b), summarising the main findings of other literature reviews that analysed the link between the working conditions of and training opportunities for ECEC staff and the quality of services they deliver. It also describes the training opportunities and working conditions of ECEC workers in five Member States (Austria, Germany, Ireland, the Netherlands and Spain), showing that there is a lack of training and career progression opportunities, with guidelines regarding group size and staff–child ratio seldom being respected. This working paper contributed to orient and contextualise a systematic review that analyses the research evidence available in all EU Member States concerning the link between working conditions, continuing professional development, staff–child interactions and children's outcomes (Eurofound, 2015). The reviews of studies included in the working paper show three key points:

- training that involves fixed-curriculum courses is more effective and large-scale training programmes are less effective;
- more research is needed about which specific elements of training are more important for achieving the desired outcomes;
- low staff-child ratios are associated with higher global quality scores for children aged three to five.

Finally, 15 case studies of successful inclusive practices for children in a vulnerable situation were contracted out. Both the case studies and the systematic review focused on centre-based services, therefore leaving out childminding services. The definitions used in this project regarding ECEC services, working conditions and in-service training are those used by the OECD (2012) and are detailed in the following box.

Early childhood education and care (ECEC) includes all arrangements providing care and education for children under compulsory school age, regardless of setting, funding, opening hours, or programme content (OECD, 2001, p. 7).

Working conditions in ECEC settings are often referred to as structural quality indicators (wages, staff–child ratio, maximum group size, working hours and so on) and other characteristics (such as non-financial benefits, teamwork, manager's leadership or workload) that can influence the ability of professionals to do their work well and their satisfaction with the workplace, work tasks and nature of the job (OECD, 2012, p. 153).

*In-service education* comprises all planned programmes of learning opportunities for staff members of ECEC providers for the purpose of improving the performance of individuals in already assigned positions (Litjens and Taguma, 2010, p. 40).

#### **Systematic review**

This report includes the main findings and conclusions of the first systematic review focusing on European studies analysing the link between training and working conditions on the one hand and the quality of ECEC services, staff–child interactions and children's outcomes on the other. The systematic review was carried out by a team that brought together the Centre for Innovation in the Early Years in Ghent, the PPMI group in Lithuania and the Institute of Education of the University

of London. This consortium also included a team of 24 national experts, who were able to search and screen studies in all EU official languages.

A systematic review is a review of the research literature using systematic and explicit accountable methods (Gough et al, 2012). By following standardised procedures to search, appraise and report the findings of studies, it is possible to reduce the risk of drawing misleading conclusions from a reduced or inaccurate body of research. In this systematic review, the guidelines of the EPPI Centre (Gough et al, 2012) were followed. The team of national experts searched and screened studies in all EU28 Member States.

This systematic review gathers evidence to answer the following two questions:

- Which features of CPD affect children (their outcomes/well-being)? Which forms of CPD are the most effective?
- Which features of working conditions affect children (their outcomes/well-being)? Which forms of working conditions interventions are the most effective?

Systematic reviews have a list of selection criteria to frame the search of studies. The types of studies analysed in this systematic review are quantitative studies that measured impact (in other words, studies that examined which interventions were effective) or qualitative studies reporting the views and experiences of participants through interviews. Studies had to be published after 1991, when the landmark report *Quality in services for young children* (EC Childcare Network, 1991) was published. The subject of study was the ECEC workforce and children aged 0–7 years, with the focus on continuing professional development and/or working conditions in Europe. After an extensive search and screening of titles and abstracts of studies in relation to these selection criteria, 66 studies were found that met them (39 of these studies were in English and 27 were in other languages).

A further step in the selection of studies was the appraisal of their research design and their methodological rigour. The appraisal of each study was carried out by two reviewers independent of each other. In terms of research design, the quantitative impact studies included were controlled trials or before-and-after evaluations intended to capture impact over time. The qualitative studies gathered the views of ECEC practitioners, to provide a better understanding of what type of interventions are judged to be effective by whom, why and in which circumstances. Exploratory studies and qualitative surveys were not included in the synthesis.

As for the criteria used to appraise the quality of the studies, in the case of quantitative studies they were assessed for risk of selection bias, bias due to loss of follow-up and selective reporting bias. Studies that avoided all three types of bias were judged 'sound' and those avoiding at least one were assessed as 'sound despite discrepancy with quality criteria'. Studies that did not avoid any of the biases in full were excluded from quantitative synthesis as they were judged 'not sound' by the reviewers. For the qualitative views studies, the criteria used to assess them were the following:

- Were steps taken to increase rigour in the sampling?
- Were steps taken to increase rigour in the data collected?
- Were steps taken to increase the rigour in the analysis of the data?
- Were the findings of the study grounded in/ supported by the data?

- Please rate the findings of the study in terms of their breadth and depth.
- To what extent does the study privilege the perspectives and experiences of participants/ECEC professionals?

The views studies were rated according to these criteria in relation to their usefulness (on the basis of the last three criteria) and reliability (on the basis of all six criteria). Studies that were rated 'low' on both their reliability and usefulness were excluded from the synthesis. The different quantitative and qualitative sections of mixed-methods studies were appraised each according to the respective appraisal criteria.

During this extensive process a large number of studies were discarded. The core team conducting the search in English-language databases and academic journals also prepared a search guideline for the national experts, who translated the search terms into their language and carried out the search in their own countries. The original number of studies in English identified was fairly high, with over 19,000 studies found; the title and abstract were screened in 70% of them. This led to the exclusion of a very large number of studies that did not deal with the situation in EU countries or did not focus on the subject of this systematic review or did not study staff or children in ECEC. This left fewer than 300 studies for full-text screening, after which only 39 relevant studies were included in the mapping exercise. Ten studies were excluded after examination of their research design and methodology.

The initial number of studies in languages other than English was much smaller (1,551). This went down to 173 after the screening of their titles and abstract and then fell to 27 after the whole text had been screened. After the appraisal stage, the number went down to 15, which together with the 29 studies in English makes a total of 44 studies whose findings were synthesised. The studies analysed the situation in Belgium, Croatia, Denmark, Germany, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal, Sweden, Slovenia, Spain and the UK. Four quantitative impact studies and two qualitative views studies included in the in-depth review evaluated the impact of working conditions on ECEC quality, staff—child interactions and children's outcomes. Eleven quantitative impact studies and 30 views studies deal with continuing professional development. The findings are discussed further in Chapter 3.

#### **Case studies**

Fifteen case studies concerned the provision of staff, materials and/or financial resources aimed at making services more inclusive for children who require additional support. The aim was to gather examples of good practice targeting a wide range of children requiring these types of support. This support includes resources delivered for children from all three cross-national categories as defined by the OECD – children in the following situations:

- children with disabilities (impairments viewed in medical terms as organic disorders attributable to organic pathologies);
- children with difficulties (behavioural or emotional disorders, or specific difficulties in learning);
- children facing disadvantage (arising primarily from socioeconomic, cultural, and/or linguistic factors) (OECD, 2007).

Also included are case studies of additional resources that aim to make ECEC services more inclusive for all children. The 10 case studies about additional resources for children with disabilities and/ or socioeconomic disadvantage were carried out by the PPMI Group and the Centre for Innovation in the Early Years. The five case studies of additional resources for all children and/or for children with difficulties or that made services more inclusive for all children were carried out by Ramboll Management Consulting. The case studies were carried out between June and November 2014 through desk research and interviews with staff and other relevant stakeholders.

The aim of these case studies is to provide examples of 'what works' to make services more inclusive. Therefore, a prerequisite for selecting case studies was that they should have been evaluated as being successful in terms of an increase in access to or inclusion in mainstream ECEC services and/ or contributing towards positive outcomes such as increases in children's well-being and learning. An attempt was also made to have case studies that were considered to be innovative and that were not widely over-studied or over-included in international databases (such as the European Platform for Investing in Children). To enable general messages and lessons to be drawn from the experiences described in the case studies, examples focused on a limited range of additional resources, namely those directly targeting children and practitioners with the aim of improving access to, and inclusion and enrolment in, centre-based programmes. These resources include teacher training, inclusive education plans, specialist support to teachers and effective funding schemes. The case studies did not include types of support such as parenting support, home visits, community programmes, awareness-raising campaigns, changes in ECEC governance, special schools and classes and detection and screening activities. The original intention was to select case studies from a wide range of Member States, but due to the paucity of evaluations of inclusive practices in ECEC the case studies are taken from seven Member States (see Table 2 below).

Table 2: Case studies included in the research

Name and country	Type of support	Children targeted
'Tiny signers', Austria	Teacher training	Deaf and hard-of-hearing children, mostly under two years old
'Dr Jedlička Integrated Support Centre', Czech Republic	Methodological support, funding schemes	Disabled children, five years old
'Language and activity-based intervention programme', Finland	Inclusive education plans	Children with specific language impairment aged three to five years
'Small Steps Programme', Netherlands	Inclusive education plans, funding schemes	Children with Down Syndrome
'Disabled Children's Access to Childcare Pilots', UK	Teacher training, funding schemes	Disabled children
Early intensive behavioural intervention, Sweden/Norway	Intensive behavioural intervention, staff training and supervision	Children with autism (usually younger than four years)
'Nuffield Early Language Intervention', UK	Language intervention, staff training	Children with poor speech and language skills in nursery or reception (3–5 years)

Name and country	Type of support	Children targeted
Pilot inclusion in project, Finland	Additional training concerning how to create an inclusive environment; Diminishing group sizes; Inclusive education plans	All children aged 0–7 years, but changes try to make services more inclusive for children with special needs
'The Roskilde Project' – Inclusive daycare services (pedagogical learning plans in an inclusive perspective), Denmark	Pedagogical learning plans, staff training	Creating inclusive environments in ECEC for children aged 3–6 years; 11 kindergartens in Vejen Municipality
'A good childhood – a joint responsibility', Denmark	Qualification of the inclusive pedagogical practice in daycare centres for 0–5 year-olds; Consultancy by experts on inclusion	All children aged 0–18 years
'Improving access to childcare for disadvantaged groups', Belgium (Flanders)	Teacher training, inclusive education plans, specialist support to teachers, effective funding schemes	Children (aged 0–3 years) of migrant and refugee parents, single parents or parents living in poverty.
'Social and emotional development of preschoolers with sociocultural disadvantages', Czech Republic	Teacher training, Inclusive education plans	Children with disadvantages
'Action competences in social pedagogical work with socially endangered children and youth (ASP-programme)', Denmark	Teacher training, Inclusive education plans	Socially disadvantaged children aged 3–5 years, preschool educators and other staff involved in the programme
'A good start', Hungary	Teacher training, specialist support to teachers, effective funding schemes, other	Roma children
Childhood Development Initiative in Tallaght', Ireland	Teacher training, Specialist support to teachers, Inclusive education plans, Effective funding schemes	Children with disabilities, children with disadvantages, parents

The case study method allows the exploration of causal mechanisms in detail (George and Bennett, 2005). These case studies provide contextual information about the policy initiatives and legislation at the national level aiming to improve access to ECEC for the corresponding group of children. The case studies also provide information about the lessons learnt about factors for success and failure in the provision of these resources, as well as regarding their transferability and sustainability.

3

Table A1 in Annex 1 lists the studies included in the systematic review's synthesis of findings. The mapping stage of the systematic review comprised studies of 15 Member States, with three countries (Greece, Poland and Finland) being excluded from the synthesis of findings phase once the research design and the quality of the methodology had been appraised.

Only two of the 14 impact studies included were randomised controlled trials, the remaining 12 being before-and-after evaluations.<sup>4</sup> The impact studies focused on ECEC services in Germany (4 such studies from Germany being included), Sweden (3 studies), Ireland (2), the UK (1), Belgium (1), Denmark (1), the Netherlands (1) and Spain (1). A majority (11) of the impact studies analysed the impact of CPD.

As for the 32 qualitative views studies, 15 are action research studies, 14 are participatory evaluations and three are descriptive case studies.<sup>5</sup> The views studies focus on the situation in the UK (8 studies in all), Portugal (6), Ireland (5), Sweden (5), Belgium (2), Croatia (1), Germany (1), Italy (1), the Netherlands (1), Slovenia (1) and Spain (1). Most of these studies (30) focused on CPD, particularly in courses that lasted either up to one year (11 studies) or longer (13 studies).<sup>6</sup>

#### Main findings on impact of working conditions on ECEC

#### Introduction

As with other reviews looking at the impact of working conditions on the quality of services (Huntsman, 2008; Vandell and Wolfe, 2000), the studies included in this review focus mainly on staff–child ratio and group size. Table 3 overleaf shows the standards across Europe regarding staff–child ratio and group size. While most countries provide guidelines about both group size and staff–child ratio, in some countries only the former is stipulated (Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic and Spain). In Denmark, Latvia and Sweden, it is left up to ECEC centres to establish both criteria. In other countries, regulations are established at the regional level (in Austria and Germany for children aged 3–6 years, in Spain for children up to 3 years).

One of the before-and-after evaluations included in the mapping exercise was excluded from the synthesis. Because of the low number of studies on working conditions in the synthesis, the three studies without a control group that were more sound were included in the synthesis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Action research is research that starts a collective reflective process in order to solve a problem. Participatory evaluations are those seeking the active involvement of those with a stake in the programme evaluated.

Obtails about the study designs, samples and data collection and analysis methods, as well as about the details of the settings and CPD programmes and/or working conditions analysed can be found in Annex 1 of the systematic review.

Table 3: Maximum number of children per staff member and/or per group in centre-based ECEC settings, 2012–2013

	Maximum number of o			childrei er	n per st	aff	Maximum number of children per of			jroup		
		Age	es of ch	ildren			Ag	es of cl	hildren			
	Under 1	1	2	3	4	5	Under 1	1	2	3	4	5
BE (French community)		7			20				nr			
BE (German community)		6			19				nr			
BE (Flemish community)	(	6.5			nr				nr			
BG			nr				8	16	16		22	
CZ			nr				nr			2	4	
DK						nr						
EE	nr		8		1	2	5		16		2	4
IE	3	5		8		na			nr			
EL		4		12	2.5	25		12			25	
ES			nr				8	14	20		25	
FR	5	;	3			nr			20		30	
HR			nr				5	8	12	14	18	23
IT				va	riable						26	
CY	6		16		25			nr			25	
LV						nr						
LT	3	10	15		20		6	10	15		20	
LU	6			3	1	1	12			1	5	
HU	6		7		nr		12		14		25	
MT	3	5	6	15	20	na		nr		15	20	na
NL												
AT	5	7	.5		12.5		10	1	5		25	
PL		8					nr				25	
PT	5	7	9	7.5	12	2.5	10	14	18		25	
RO	4	5	6		17		7		15		20	
SI		6		8.5	1	1		12		17	2	2
SK	nr		10	20	21	22	nr		10	20	21	22
FI		4			7				nr			
SE						nr						
UK (England)	3		4	1	3	na		nr			30	na
UK (Wales)	3		4	3	3	na		12		26	30	na
UK (Northern Ireland)	3		4	8	n	a		26			n	a
UK (Scotland)	3		5	3	3	na			nr			na

Note: Staff–child ratio and the maximum number of children in a group are established by a calculation tool (http://1ratio. nl/). From January 2015, groups with two year-old and/or three-year old children must have a staff–child ratio of 1:8. 'nr' = 'no restriction'

Source: Eurydice/European Commission/EACEA/Eurostat (2014)

#### Studies regarding working conditions included in the systematic review

Although the search criteria encompassed a wide range of working conditions elements, most of the studies found focused on two aspects (staff-child ratio and class size). The findings synthesised in the systematic review about working conditions stem from three impact studies and two mixed methods studies. One of the two studies from Sweden (Palmerus, 1996) examined fluctuations in actual staff-child ratio in a public daycare setting and found that it had an impact on communication patterns. Comparisons were made between periods with a high child-caregiver ratio (with more than four children present per caregiver) and a low child-caregiver ratio (fewer than two children present per caregiver); most of the children were 3-6 years old. The findings indicate that with a higher staff-child ratio, caregivers use verbal communication merely as a tool for control in the group. In such conditions, ECEC becomes more similar to a school-like situation with a more authoritarian atmosphere. On the other hand, the mixed-methods study from Ireland (Hayes et al, 2013) evaluated the effectiveness of a programme that allowed more non-contact time with children, that included on-site training and had a more favourable staff-child ratio (1:5) than the standard ratio (1:6) for two to three year-olds (the study comprised children aged from two and a half to four years). The study concluded that, while the environmental quality of ECEC settings improved as result of the intervention, it was not possible to disentangle the effects of in-service training from those of working conditions. Similarly, the other study from Sweden included in the synthesis (Sundell, 2000) found no evidence regarding the impact of the form of ownership (whether it was private or public ECEC) or the staff-child ratio (which ranged from 1:4.6 to 1:8.7) on the cognitive, verbal, and social outcomes for children (those participating in the study were three to five year-olds).

As for class size, two mixed-methods studies carried out in England (Blatchford et al, 2001 and 2002) focused on the relation between class size (which was reduced from 30 to 20) and children's achievement in their first years of schooling. Results show that overall in smaller classes there is more individualised teacher support for learning, whereas large classes have a negative effect on basic skills learning such as letter formation. It was also found that in classes with 15 children or fewer, there is more flexibility in the teaching and the activities organised. Staff interviewed in these two studies explained that in large classes there is less monitoring of learning, and interactions mainly involve management activities and reducing noise levels.

Furthermore, a views study focusing on ECEC services in Spain (Sandstrom, 2012) explained that an excessive bureaucratic workload had a negative impact on practitioners' practice, as it reduced the time available for reflection, meetings, planning or to take up CPD. The study also showed that the over-enrolment of children (more than 25 for one teacher) made teachers rely more on lesson books with worksheet activities as a way to control a class with many children.

# Main findings on impact of CPD on outcomes for children and quality of ECEC Introduction

Chapter 1 gave a brief overview of the different ECEC settings across Europe by grouping EU Member States on the basis of their policy orientation. The grouping below is linked to the regulatory status of CPD in the Member States. Eurydice et al (2014) provide information on whether CPD is a professional duty, a prerequisite for promotion for staff, or optional. Table 4 presents an overview from the Eurydice 2014 Key Data Report.

Table 4: Regulation on CPD across Europe

Country ordered by Eurofound typology	CPD regulation younger age group*	CPD regulation older age group
Most flexible		
Belgium	Varies across regions	Professional duty
Denmark	Optional	Optional
Finland	Professional duty	Professional duty
Netherlands	No data available	No data available
Sweden	Optional	Optional
UK	Varies across jurisdictions**	Varies across jurisdictions**
Mainly flexible		
Austria	Varies across regions: mix of professional duty and optional	Varies across regions: mix of professional duty and optional
Cyprus	Optional in private settings	Optional in private settings
Germany	Varies across regions	Varies across regions
France	Optional	Professional duty
Ireland	No data available	Optional
Luxembourg	Professional duty	Professional duty
Portugal	Professional duty/necessary for promotion	Professional duty/necessary for promotion
Slovenia	Professional duty/necessary for promotion	Professional duty/necessary for promotion
Mainly traditional		
Czech Republic	Optional	Professional duty
Hungary	Professional duty	Professional duty
Latvia	Professional duty	Professional duty
Malta	Optional	Professional duty
Poland	Optional	Necessary for promotion
Romania	Professional duty/necessary for promotion	Professional duty/necessary for promotion
Slovakia	No data available	Professional duty/necessary for promotion
Most traditional		
Bulgaria	Optional	Professional duty/necessary for promotion
Croatia	Professional duty/necessary for promotion	Professional duty/necessary for promotion
Estonia	Professional duty/necessary for promotion	Professional duty/necessary for promotion
Greece	Necessary for promotion/optional	Necessary for promotion/option
Spain	Professional duty/necessary for promotion	Professional duty/necessary for promotion

Country ordered by Eurofound typology	CPD regulation younger age group*	CPD regulation older age group
Italy	Optional	Professional duty
Lithuania	Professional duty	Professional duty

Note: \* Age groups are generally under three years, and between three and six years. However, this varies between Member States. \*\*In England, CPD is a professional duty and necessary for promotion; in Scotland it is only a professional duty; in Wales and Northern Ireland it is optional.

Comparing the regulatory status applying to the two age groups it can be seen that, overall, CPD tends to be more regulated for staff working with older children. In this setting CPD tends to be a professional requirement and in several cases also necessary for promotion. When it comes to the younger age group, CPD becomes optional in several of these countries – Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, France, Italy, Malta and the UK (only in Wales and Northern Ireland). Denmark, Cyprus, Ireland and Sweden are the only countries where CPD is optional for both age groups.

#### **CPD** status in the most flexible countries

From the above analysis it appears that this group of countries does not outperform the other groups when it comes to the statutory regulation of CPD. In only one of the UK jurisdictions (England) is it both a professional requirement and a necessity for promotion. CPD is optional in Denmark and Sweden. In Finland, CPD is a professional duty but not a prerequisite for promotion. In the Flemish-speaking part of Belgium, CPD is not mandatory. However, other factors (such as funding) are also important and in that context it should be noted that Belgium, Finland and Sweden structurally finance the cost of continuing education for ECEC staff (OECD, 2012). The boxes below describe in more detail the situation in some of the countries in this category

#### **Belgium**

CPD is an integrated part of quality policy in all three parts of Belgium. The Flemish and German communities of Belgium have an established educational framework for older children and a pedagogical framework for 0–3 year-olds has just been published in Flanders. For all ECEC settings to become accredited they must outline their proposed sociopedagogic activities, the education and support for children and information on cooperation with parents. There is, however, considerable variation in the number of hours available for in-service training. In Flanders, for instance, this varies between four and 60 hours annually. It is expected that the decree on ECEC that came into force in 2014 will improve the situation. The law stipulates that by 2024 everyone working in ECEC must have some kind of qualification and that every ECEC worker has the right to pedagogical guidance from a pedagogical coach (Eurydice et al 2014).

Furthermore, ECEC providers now have to guarantee pedagogical guidance for all employed ECEC workers (Eurydice et al, 2014).

#### **Denmark**

In-service training is not regulated at national level; where local regulations exist, they apply only to core practitioners (Pædagog). As a rule, the core practitioners attend a one-day course two or three times a year and every week they have a few hours of non-contact time to attend meetings and analyse documentation. The assistant (Pædagogmedhjælper) has little or no time for preparation and documentation as this is considered to be the responsibility of the core practitioners.

#### The Netherlands

In-service training for employees of private-sector childcare centres is regulated by collective agreements. These require staff to follow the training activities required to carry out their job properly. Professional competency profiles, which apply to educators and assistants, specify the training budget, and training focuses on current and future functioning within and outside the organisation.

In theory, assistants have the same training opportunities as core practitioners but priority tends to be given to core practitioners when practical or budgetary issues arise (CoRe, 2011). Between 2009 and 2012, a programme, 'Working on Excellent Childcare', focused on developing a pedagogical framework, in-service training budgets, talent management to promote the further development of ECEC staff, and promoting collaboration between education and training. However, following significant reductions in government funding, there is now widespread concern about the ability of ECEC centres to invest in staff (Eurofound, 2013).

#### **CPD** status in mainly flexible countries

The regulatory status of CPD in several countries in this group is well advanced (Portugal, Slovenia). Ireland stands out as being the only country where CPD is optional for both age groups. According to the Professional Practice Standard of Ireland's National Quality Framework for Early Childhood Education (Síolta), professional practice 'requires regular reflection upon practice and engagement in supported, ongoing professional development' (Early Years Education Policy Unit, 2014). In Cyprus, CPD is obligatory for staff working in public kindergartens but not for those working in the private sector (Oberhuemer, et al., 2010). In Austria and Germany, CPD is regulated at regional level, which means that the situation varies significantly between the different regions (Länder).

#### **Austria**

In-service training of ECEC staff is organised at regional level. On average, workers can take up to five training days per year, but this varies from region to region and in some (Carinthia and Vienna) there is no requirement for CPD.

The system distinguishes between 'pedagogues' and 'assistants'; for the latter, no minimum standards apply with regard to training. Even when workshops and seminars are available, assistants face difficulties taking these opportunities due to long working hours and financial constraints (Eurofound, 2014; Eurydice et al, 2014).

#### **Portugal**

Until 2010, Portugal had invested widely in expanding ECEC provisions and coverage increased to such a degree that rates are now above the Barcelona target.

CPD is a requirement for staff working with both age groups and consequently inservice training is also a requirement. Educators are required to follow a minimum of 50 training hours over a period of two years. There is a distinction between courses offered by training centres of the Schools' Association, which provide courses that are more oriented towards school issues, whereas courses that are specifically designed for ECEC staff tend to be offered by independent organisations (Oberhuemer and Schreyer, 2010).

#### **CPD** status in mainly traditional countries

As can be seen in Table 4, CPD is regulated for older children in all countries in this group, with the exception of Slovakia. The situation is less promising for younger children, with CPD optional in the Czech Republic, Malta and Poland (no information is available for Slovakia).

#### **Czech Republic**

As of 2014, the operation of crèches for children under three years of aged ceased, due to low take-up and availability. Instead, young children attend daily care. Whereas provision for 3–6 year-olds falls under the Education Act, childcare (called daily care) is governed by the Trade Act that stipulates conditions for the qualifications of the trader (or a responsible person in authority) and the caregiver(s). (Eurydice et al, 2014). Inservice training is only required for kindergarten staff; those working in daily care have no training obligation or rights (Oberhuemer and Schreyer, 2010).

In its proposal for a quality framework, the European Commission notes that the quality of ECEC provision is monitored for 3–6 year-olds. There is no reference to monitoring provision for younger children (European Commission, 2014a).

#### Slovakia

The availability of ECEC remains far below target and as part of the 2013 country-specific recommendations, the European Commission called for urgent emphasis on the provision of childcare facilities, particularly for children under three years (European Commission, 2013b). The challenge in achieving this is twofold: there is a lack of governmental regulation (no legislation being in place); in addition, progress is hampered by a dismissive attitude towards childcare. Most women prefer to stay at home (on parental leave) until their children reach kindergarten age.

Local authorities are only obliged to provide for kindergartens. There is no obligation by law to provide childcare services for children under three. However, improvement is under way as legislation is now being developed by the Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family whereby concrete measures and mechanisms will be linked to new operational programmes.

#### CPD status in the most traditional countries

Despite lagging behind in policy terms – with many of the countries in this group providing low levels of state support for ECEC as well as low coverage rates – CPD appears to be highly regulated. Bulgaria and Italy are the only two countries where CPD is optional for staff working with the younger age group. Moreover, in many of these countries CPD is both a professional requirement and a necessity for promotion for staff working with both age groups.

#### **Bulgaria**

ECEC for the youngest children falls outside of the state's responsibilities and is managed by local authorities. A number of issues curtail the delivery of quality ECEC provision, such as poor working conditions and difficulties in recruiting staff. Attendance rates are among the lowest in the European Union and as of 2010 no organised system of in-service training was in place (Eurydice et al, 2014; Oberhuemer and Schreyer, 2010).

CPD is carried out by various entities which are not comparable in scale to influence state funding, provision of highly qualified teams of experts, international cooperation and horizontal communication with other training units. Entities include universities, the Ministry of Education and Science (MES), private companies carrying out educational services, NGOs and temporary collective projects. Because of this diversity, and because of the frequent involvement of the same trainers on behalf of various organisers, teachers do not always accurately identify the entity which carries out a specific training programme.

#### Effects of CPD initiatives on overall quality of ECEC services

Five impact studies focused on different types of long-term training (lasting between one and two years). Overall it was found that long-term training provided in groups of peers is effective in improving the quality of services. Three quantitative impact studies included in the systematic review report that long-term training with group workshops and ongoing support had positive outcomes on the environmental and pedagogical quality as measured in the ECERS scale (Sheridan, 2001).<sup>7</sup> The mixed-methods study by Hayes et al (2013) evaluating a two-year programme that included on-site training showed a positive effect on the planning and implementation of activities, on the literacy environment and in general on the planning and the quality of the curriculum. Furthermore, two quantitative studies from Belgium (Vandenbroeck et al, 2008; Vandenbroeck et al, 2013) analysed the effects of a programme for ECEC managers (which included coaching and monthly training sessions) on the availability, accessibility and enrolment of children from low-income, single-parent and ethnic minority families. The changes in the priority criteria of the directors as a consequence of the training led to significant increases in the enrolment of children from single-parent and ethnic minority families.

#### Effects of CPD initiatives on practitioners' knowledge and understanding

Overall, the views studies included in the review showed that practitioners undertaking CPD courses felt an increased confidence in their skills (Ang, 2012; SQW, 2012; Hayes et al, 2013; Sheridan et

The Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale (ECERS) provides an overall measure of the environment by assessing personal care routines, furnishing and display, language reasoning, motor activities, creative activities, social development and adult needs.

al, 2013; Richter, 2012). In the case of the managers, CPD also had a positive impact on teamwork and on coordination with other agencies (Ang, 2012).

Another outcome of CPD reported by practitioners is increased awareness about the impact of their practices and in how they observe and reflect critically on them. One study from Germany showed that the impact of training of the practice of teachers persisted six months after the training programme ended (Richter, 2012). Training made practitioners rethink their role as educators and it also made them reconsider the role of children. Consequently, they listened more to children and took their opinions into account more often. It also led to practitioners being more interested in how parents were educating their children.

CPD helps improve outcomes by involving practitioners in processes to improve educational practice, which helps them challenge the assumptions they had taken for granted and to identify differences between theory and practice. Using written documentation of children's experiences and pedagogical references was also found to be useful in understanding learning interactions and to implement changes in practice (Sheridan et al, 2013; Picchio et al, 2012). The encouragement, advice and feedback provided by mentors was also mentioned by practitioners as a useful element in improving practices with children (Vonta et al, 2007). A UK study showed that training that uses repertory grids (a tool to make explicit how participants describe the experiences of children) encourages practitioners to challenge their own understandings and co-construct new professional knowledge (Menmuir and Christie, 1999). Training involving the institution as a whole was also found to be more effective (Sheridan, 2013; Cardoso, 2012). A study analysing the impact of preschools working systematically with quality issues showed that it made practitioners reflect more on their work (Sheridan et al, 2013). Similarly, Bleach (2013) found that action research (research oriented towards reflection and solving specific problems) helped practitioners to develop their methodological skills.

Another significant element in improving the knowledge and understanding of practitioners was their involvement in transformative processes while they were taking part in CPD. This allows participants in training to critically view differences between theory and the actual practice (Wood and Bennett, 2000; Johansson, 2007; Lino, 2005; Oliveira-Formosinho and Araújo, 2010). It also allows practitioners to be part of the changes in practice that may have been introduced, which also has an effect on knowledge and attitudes (Peeters and Vandenbroeck, 2011; Rönnerman, 2003 and 2008; Blenkin and Hutchin, 1998).

#### Effects of CPD initiatives on practitioners' practice

Fifteen studies reported views about how CPD changed practices regarding the development, implementation and review of the curriculum. These studies reported that practitioners put in place more responsive educational strategies to enhance the learning of children: for instance, Peeters (1993) and SQW (2012) report that practitioners introduced changes such as new activities and equipment. Other studies showed that CPD led to an increase in practices based on listening to children and their needs – for instance, finding out what children knew before planning an activity (Bleach, 2013; Leal, 2011; Rönnerman, 2003 and 2008). Two other studies showed that there was an improvement in teaching strategies, with teachers having a more integrated pedagogical approach, such as a better balance between work- and play-based activities (Blenkin and Hutchin, 1998; McMillan et al, 2012).

Given that most of the CPD programmes studied were integrated into the ECEC practice, training led to better teamwork and cooperation with parents and professionals from other agencies. Thirteen studies reported that as a consequence of training, staff are more willing to share and discuss issues more openly. Training sessions for team groups are an opportunity for staff to share and discuss ideas and concerns, which helps improve teamwork and monitoring of how changes in practice are being implemented. Staff also tend to be more open to sharing their views after the training. Training also has a positive impact on working with parents: not only do staff have a more welcoming approach towards parents, but parents are also more engaged, helping with practical issues such as bringing materials or painting walls (Vujičić, 2008). Parents also trust staff more and are more confident when it comes to participating in activities or asking questions about their children's progress. Finally, three studies showed that networking with other professionals had improved, either because training made staff more aware of the need for interagency cooperation or because multidisciplinary training brought together different professionals (Ang, 2012; Bleach, 2013; SQW, 2012).

The views studies also identified the enabling factors that led to the results described above. These studies point out that when CPD is based in the context rather than just on theory, practitioners are able to put in practice more responsive learning initiatives and strategies that correspond better to the specific needs of children. Practitioners are also more likely to introduce pedagogical innovations. Allowing ample time for changes to take place is another condition for being effective: two studies identified the first year of an intervention as a period for the knowledge to 'sink in', the second year being the period when changes in the practitioners' practice can be appreciated (Hayes et al, 2013; Peeters, 1993). The use of tools on a systematic basis, such as observation, documentation, portfolios and action plans, supports the changes in practice described above. In addition to these tools, pedagogical guidance, coaching on the job and collective reflection in reference groups or by pairing up workers who give critical feedback to each other also contribute towards the outcomes discussed above. Overall, practice-based research helps improve ECEC services and the skills of staff.

#### Effects of CPD initiatives on staff-child interactions

There is evidence from four impact studies that short-term training that included video supervision proved to be an effective way of improving practitioners' caregiving and language stimulation and children's initiative in verbal interaction, language acquisition and cognitive development. Only one study provided evidence of retention of training effects (three months after the intervention took place), with no studies measuring the retention in the long term (Fukkink and Tavecchio, 2010). One impact study showed that a short-term programme including video interaction, language modelling techniques, corrective feedback and time allocation for children's verbal expression made practitioners change their behaviour so that children could take the initiative in interactions (Simon and Sachse, 2011).

Another impact study in Ireland analysed the effects of a 120-hour preschool CPD programme in Ireland called 'Foundation Course in Playgroup Practice' (Rhodes and Hennessy, 2001). This programme involved children's observation and project work but did not have a feedback component. The training had a positive impact on the performance of practitioners in terms of increased positive relationships and a decrease in the level of detachment (the extent to which caregivers are emotionally and behaviourally remote from the children).

As for the views studies, five show that when staff can reflect on their practice, training has a positive impact on staff-child interactions (Blenkin and Hutchin, 1998; Jopling et al, 2013; Potter

and Hodgson, 2007; Sheridan et al, 2013; SQW, 2012). For example, the training 'Adult Child Interaction (ACI) Course' included the use of video clips and work-based support visits, which led staff to initiate fewer interactions with children, thus giving children the opportunity to take a more proactive leading role (Potter and Hodgson, 2007). Changes in the interactions were also due to the fact that practitioners changed their views about children and about their interactions with them. Sheridan et al (2013) reported that teachers participating in the HighScope training in Ireland saw children as partners in the learning process and consequently were more open to their participation in the documentation processes.

#### Effects of CPD initiatives on children's learning and socialising experiences

Two impact studies reported improvements in cognitive development (Beller, Merkens and Preissing, 2007; Beller and Beller, 2009) and in vocabulary and language development outcomes (Buschmann and Joos, 2011) after practitioners undertook a short-term training course including video feedback.

Another two studies described the effects of long-term training programmes that included ongoing staff support, such as pedagogical guidance and coaching in reflection groups. Evanschitzky et al (2008) analysed the effectiveness of a two-year-long mathematics, science and technology training programme in Germany for kindergarten teachers. The results of the study show that children in the intervention group had an increased interest and a better grasp of mathematical concepts than children in the control group. The other study (Jensen et al, 2013) evaluated the effectiveness of a Danish early year preschool programme, which included workshops in large groups, education and training in reflection groups and conferences with pedagogical consultants. This study found that children in the intervention group had fewer conduct problems and emotional symptoms, and were more attentive and less hyperactive after the intervention.

The Irish study looking into the impact of short training without supervision or coaching found that children in the services where this training had been delivered experienced gains in the level of complex social and cognitive play (Rhodes and Hennessy, 2001).

The effects of a short CPD programme that was not integrated into ECEC practices (an off-site training programme without follow-up activities in ECEC settings) was analysed in one study from Spain (Franco Justo, 2008). This programme focused on relaxation and the improvement of self-esteem of practitioners as well as on children's graphical creativity. The programme had a significant positive impact in the former, but a limited impact on the latter.

Only three views studies provided evidence on this topic. The evaluation of the 3,4,5 service in Ireland showed that children were able to act more independently – for example, they made better choices and were more communicative (SQW, 2012). A study from Croatia showed that training helped practitioners overcome their anxiety and introduce changes in the learning environment, which led children to cry and fight less; it also made the separation from their parents less problematic (Vujičić, 2008). The evaluation of the three-year 'Let's Think' programme in the UK showed that children thought more independently and in a more critical manner. Other areas that improved were social cooperation, confidence and independence (Aubrey et al, 2012).

#### **Conclusions**

The studies included in the systematic review dealing with working conditions show that staff–child ratio and class size have an influence on staff–child interactions and the practitioners' practice. As for training, this is more effective when it is integrated in the practice of ECEC centres. In the case

of short-term training programmes, including a video feedback component has a positive impact on the outcomes for children and the competencies of practitioners. Long-term pedagogical support to staff, provided by specialised coaches or pedagogical counsellors in reflection groups, was found to be effective in enhancing the quality of ECEC services and in sustaining it over a long period of time. There is also evidence of the impact of such support on children's cognitive and social outcomes.

#### Research gaps

It must be noted that most of the studies included in the review deal with CPD, only five studies focusing on working conditions. Twenty quantitative studies that had been included in the mapping phase were left out of the synthesis because they had a study design other than controlled trial or before-and-after studies. This affected mostly the quantitative studies dealing with working conditions, which were reduced to four in the synthesis. Working conditions is therefore an area where more impact studies in the form of controlled trials are needed to produce more solid evidence.

Regarding the effectiveness of CPD interventions, none of the impact studies provided any information about the long-term effects of training. Nor was any evidence found in the impact studies regarding the effect of short-term training interventions integrated into ECEC practices without a video feedback component. For each of the subjects listed below, only one study was found that provided evidence about:

- the impact of long-term interventions integrated into practices through the provision of ongoing staff support on staff-child interactions;
- the impact of integrated short-term intensive training interventions without feedback component;
- the overall impact of long-term and short-term training interventions that are not integrated into practice.

#### Research evidence across Europe

The countries with most studies included in this review were the UK (with eight studies), Sweden (eight studies), Ireland (six), Portugal (six) and Germany (five). Denmark, Italy, Slovenia, Croatia were represented by one study each. Studies from several countries were not included, with studies from Greece, Poland and Finland included in the mapping but then left out of the synthesis once their research design and methodological rigour had been appraised.

The lack of studies from countries with comprehensive ECEC systems (such as Austria, Finland and France) could be due to the fact that providing 'hard' scientific evidence is less important in some countries in relation to this topic, perhaps because it is assumed that good working conditions and training opportunities have a positive impact on ECEC and the children receiving it. It could also be the case that in some countries (France, Italy) the focus is not on evaluating the success of training opportunities in relation to children's outcomes, but rather on changes implemented as a consequence of CPD. It must also be noted that in many EU Member States there are no databases about research on ECEC, which made the search for studies more complex.

#### **Analysing complex interventions**

Several of the studies point out that it is not possible to assess in isolation the impact of different aspects of working conditions and CPD courses. For example, studies are not always able to disentangle the effects of staff–child ratio from group size or initial qualifications from in-service training. In some studies it was not possible to separate the effects of working conditions and CPD from other elements of ECEC services such as the curriculum or the wider context in which ECEC

services are delivered. This interaction between different components is also behind the fact that studies have very different results and this may make it difficult to generalise results of studies analysing a limited set of contexts. It may therefore be useful in future studies to follow guidelines to evaluate complex interventions. The Medical Research Council has published a set of guidelines that recommend the following:

- a comprehensive theoretical framework that can help identify causality issues;
- larger sample sizes to control for variability in individual-level outcomes;
- checking for implementation problems through a process evaluation;
- multiple measurements that encompass unintended consequences and overall favour experimental high quality non-experimental approach to the evaluation of complex interventions (Craig et al, 2008).

#### **Evidence from other sources**

An advantage of looking for research evidence using systematic reviews is the fact that such reviews allow the most robust evidence available to be gathered to inform policy recommendations. The Eurofound systematic review (Eurofound, 2015) includes quantitative studies in the form of controlled trials, leaving out other types of studies from which the conclusions gathered may have been more tentative, as they are not considered to provide the same level of evidence when assessing effectiveness due to a higher risk of bias. In this study the design threshold is in line with the recommendations of the Campbell Collaboration, indicating which studies should be included when establishing the effectiveness of an intervention (Campbell Collaboration, 2004). However, as a consequence of this, few studies dealing with working conditions have been included in the review. Moreover, research from several countries has been left out as a result of adopting this threshold. To complement the evidence on working conditions included in the systematic review, listed below are the studies dealing with working conditions that were included in the mapping exercise but were excluded from the synthesis.<sup>8</sup> It must be noted that the evidence provided by these studies is more tentative than that provided by the studies included in the systematic review synthesis because their methodology leaves more room for bias.

Almeida et al (2012) analysed staff-child interactions in toddler ECEC classrooms in Portugal, looking at the impact of structural quality. The study found that the behaviour of teachers is more adequate (from a cognitive point of view is better adapted to the interests and capabilities of children) when they earn higher wages and can avail of more non-contact time. The study pointed out that higher wages go together with other variables linked to career progression (such as years of professional experience and initial qualifications). The negative correlation found between the adequacy of interactions and the number of hours of direct work with children can be explained by the high demands that such work places on ECEC practitioners.

The study carried out by **Andrzejewska** (2011) examined the link between the cognitive skills of children and staff–child ratio, type of preschool centre and teachers' career progression. The relation between teachers' career progression and the cognitive competencies of children was in general found to be statistically significant. For other elements, the results are not stated in the report;

Details about the aims and objectives of the studies, the sample and settings that were studied and the details of the CPD or programme and/or working condition studied can be found in the systematic review (Eurofound 2015).

however, the author states that a lower staff–child ratio contributes to better reasoning skills because children are given more time and attention.

**Cryer et al** (1999) analysed the relation between structural and process quality in preschool classrooms in Germany, Portugal, Spain and the United States. Overall, no strong predictor of process quality was found, which means that to improve process quality, many structural characteristics need to be taken into account simultaneously. Furthermore, structural characteristics account for only a certain degree of change in process quality, and therefore regulation needs to focus on the different elements of process quality.

**Lera** (1996) analysed the quality of preschool classes in Seville by focusing on three structural variables (ratio, group size, training of teachers) and two process variables (classroom quality and educational practices). No relation was found between structural and process variables, probably because all the settings analysed were fairly similar.

The study by **Montie et al** (2006) analysing longitudinal data from 10 countries aims to identify how process and structural characteristics of the settings children attended at age four are related to their cognitive and language performance at age seven. The analysis showed that as the level of teacher education increased, the language performance of children aged seven improved. Group size was not found to be related to the language or cognitive scores of children, with other studies showing that relationships between group size and adult–child ratios and process characteristics are country-specific.

**Pugnaghi** (2014) evaluated educational interactions in 20 preschools in an Italian province examining the teacher, institutional and classroom characteristics. In each preschool, the entire school day was recorded and subsequently analysed. Information was also gathered through questionnaires. The quality of interactions was measured in terms of emotional support, organisation of classroom environment and instructional support. The statistical analysis of the responses shows that in the settings with a higher quality of educational interaction, staff have a higher number of hours of co-presence compared to other settings, lower levels of staff turnover and a higher number of hours of CPD provided by institutions that staff are required to attend.

In a study that looked at relations between the quality of interactions and structural characteristics **Rentzou and Sakellariou** (2011) found limited correlations between both dimensions. More concretely, age and years of experience have been found to correlate with the permissiveness subscale, whereas group size and staff–child ratio correlate with the detachment subscale. The authors argue that this lack of correlation could be due to the fact that Greek preschool pays little attention to educational activities, in which according to previous research group size and staff–child ratio are more important.

**Ruíz de Miguel and García García** (2004) studied the interactions between different elements of quality in 19 preschool classrooms in Spain, using different surveys for teachers, families and for a third party that collected information about children. The study found that group size had a direct effect on the relationships between staff and children, with groups of up to 17 children ideal in order to have positive relations. The study could not confirm whether the staff–child ratio is the element that creates the conditions for positive interactions, as has been suggested in other studies. Positive

<sup>9</sup> The ten countries are Finland, Greece, Hong Kong, Indonesia, Ireland, Italy, Poland, Spain, Thailand and the United States.

staff-child interactions influence the interactions between children, which indirectly benefits their development (in terms of their verbal, social and cognitive skills).

**Tietze et al** (2013) carried out a cross-sectional national survey as part of a nationwide German study on ECEC (NUBBEK – the National Survey for education, care and education in early childhood). The study examines how personal and structural quality indicators as well as pedagogical orientations impact on process quality. It also analyses the effects of the quality experienced by children in ECEC on children's outcomes. Structural quality conditions explain between 11.2% and 32% of the variation in process quality. Staff—child ratios or group size have a significant effect only partly, with group size having some effect on the communicative and social behaviour of two-year olds. A higher qualification level and more time for preparation and planning correlate with better process quality in ECEC settings.

# Services for children in a vulnerable situation

#### Introduction

This chapter focuses on the current situation in Europe of children who require additional resources. The conceptual framework used is the one established by the OECD, whereby 'those with special educational needs are defined by the additional public and/or private resources provided to support their education' (OECD, 2007). These resources are provided over and above the resources available to students who do not have difficulties in accessing the regular curriculum. The resulting crossnational categories are defined as follows.

- Students with disabilities or impairments viewed in medical terms as organic disorders attributable to organic pathologies (for instance, in relation to sensory, motor or neurological defects). The educational need is considered to arise primarily from problems attributable to these disabilities (cross-national category 'A/Disabilities').
- Students with behavioural or emotional disorders, or specific difficulties in learning. The educational need is considered to arise primarily from problems in the interaction between the student and the educational context (cross-national category 'B/Difficulties').<sup>10</sup>
- Students with disadvantages arising primarily from socioeconomic, cultural, and/or linguistic factors. The educational need is to compensate for the disadvantages attributable to these factors (cross-national category 'C/Disadvantages').

The aim of these resources is to promote the inclusion of children in mainstream educational institutions, spending most of their time with the rest of the children. Whereas the concept of integration entailed accommodating children to the education environment, inclusion encourages the full participation of students and requires the education institution to adapt its practices to facilitate this.

Table 5: Differences between integration and inclusion

Integrative practice	Inclusive practice		
Insertion of children with special needs in the mainstream school	Living and learning together (all children at the mainstream school)		
Differentiating system depending on the type of	Inclusive system for everybody		
disability Two-group-theory (disabled–not disabled; with or	Theory of a heterogeneous group (different minorities and majorities)		
without special needs)	Changing of the schooling idea		
Reception of disabled children	Consideration of all levels (emotional, social,		
Theoretical approach centred on the individual	educational)		
Resources for labelled children	Resources for the entire school		
Special support for disabled children	Common and individual learning		
One individual curriculum for one child	One individualised curriculum for every child		
Individual projects for disabled children	Common reflection and planning of all participants		
Special teacher supporting children with special needs	Special teacher supporting teachers, classes and schools		
Special education influencing mainstream school methods	Changing all educational practices (mainstream and special practices)		
Controlled by experts	Teamwork		

Source: Hinz (2002), p. 359

It must be noted that there are significant variations between countries as to whether specific issues such as autism, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) or speech and language difficulties are classified in category A and/or B, depending on the severity (see OECD, 2005).

The work of UNESCO has been one of the main catalysts for the promotion of inclusive education in Europe and elsewhere. The organisation defines inclusion as 'a dynamic approach of responding positively to pupil diversity and of seeing individual differences not as problems, but as opportunities for enriching learning' (UNESCO, 2005, p. 12). The UNESCO Salamanca Statement and Framework for action has promoted inclusion at all levels of education, including ECEC; the document explains that

the fundamental principle of the inclusive school is that all children should learn together, wherever possible, regardless of any difficulties or differences they may have. Inclusive schools must recognize and respond to the diverse needs of their students, accommodating both different styles and rates of learning and ensuring quality education to all through appropriate curricula, organizational arrangements, teaching strategies, resource use and partnerships with their communities (UNESCO, 1994, pp. 11–12).

While in the past it was common practice to provide education for children requiring additional resources in special schools or special classes, the increasing trend is to provide the resources necessary to integrate these groups in mainstream classes (Rand Europe, 2013). The first OECD Starting Strong report (OECD, 2001) noted that most countries had chosen to include children with special educational needs within mainstream ECEC settings where this was determined to be in the child's best interests.

This trend goes hand-in-hand with the development of early childhood intervention, which is defined by the European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education as

a composite of services/provision for very young children and their families, provided at their request at a certain time in a child's life, covering any action undertaken when a child needs special support to a) Ensure and enhance her/his personal development; b) Strengthen the family's own competences, and c) Promote the social inclusion of the family and the child (EADSNE, 2010, p. 7).

In those countries where it is possible to avail of health and developmental screening to children in ECEC settings, the practice of segregating children in specialised education institutions has been stopped (OECD, 2005).

The trend towards more inclusive education can partly be explained by policy developments at the international level. In the Netherlands, for example, in 2014, in preparation for the ratification of the UN Convention on the rights of persons with Disabilities, the Government established a new framework for education (*Wet op passend onderwijs*). Within this new framework, schools and early childhood education centres have to become more inclusive (as outlined in the Dutch case study).

Regarding the current situation of education systems, Ebersold (2011) considers that there is a trend towards more inclusive education services in 15 European countries, with another four (Austria, the Czech Republic, Hungary and Luxembourg) in transition towards more inclusive education services. Within this common trend towards further inclusion, EU Member States differ in the extent to which they set out in legislation how inclusion should be achieved in practice. For example, in France, Germany, Hungary, Portugal and Sweden, inclusion is part of ECEC guidelines and curricula. Cultural diversity as a value is included in the curriculum, whereas disability is not explicitly mentioned. An exception to this is Hungary, where it is specified how children need to be

supported and that this should include avoiding overwhelming demands and establishing therapy and rehabilitation as an essential part of the pedagogic concept (Kron, 2008).

As for the relation between special schools/classes and mainstream ECEC, in Finland the 2007 Special Education Strategy included a level of so-called intensified support between general and special support. Thus, there is a continuum in the levels of support, with a first level of general support for all children. If it is deemed that this support is not sufficient for some children, the early childhood special teacher assesses the strengths and weaknesses of the child and establishes an intensified support plan in cooperation with the parents and other professionals that can include special education sessions with the ECEC special teacher or referrals to other specialists (such as speech and language therapists). The child's behaviour is used as the basis for drafting an individualised education plan with input from a team of different professionals. Finally, special support is very intense and its specific nature is decided by a team of specialists after neurological and psychiatric evaluation.

Parents of children with special educational needs still tend to opt for a combination of inclusive and special early years' settings, perhaps because they are not convinced of the level of additional resources in place (Flewitt and Nind, 2007). For example, in the UK, despite moves towards inclusive early years' education, many parents of young children identified as having special educational needs opt for a combination of both inclusive and special early years' settings. A survey sent to early years' providers, voluntary groups and parents in three local education authorities in southern England revealed that the practice of combining different types of placements was widespread (Nutbrown and Clough, 2004).

Regarding the categories of children requiring additional support, the OECD provides the following categorisation of national approaches to special educational needs (OECD, 2007):

- based on disability categories, where the term 'disability', however, often has different meanings across countries;
- based on disabilities and disadvantage;
- based on disabilities, disadvantage and gift/talent;
- a case-by-case approach rather than defining students through a categorical approach.

The following sections describe in more detail the situation of specific groups of children who face potential disadvantage and the policies and legislation in place to promote their inclusion in mainstream ECEC.

#### Children with disabilities and ECEC services

In the case of children with disabilities, their inclusion in mainstream ECEC comes from a change in the approach to disability from a medical model to a more social model. In the medical model, the focus is on compensating for deficiencies arising from impairing disabilities, whereas the social model puts the emphasis on strengthening capabilities and having an environment without barriers that acknowledges diversity.

The more significant the additional support needs of their child, the more likely parents are to experience issues such as a lack of appropriate childcare provision in their area and higher-than-average childcare costs. In the UK, according to the Childcare and Early Years Survey of Parents

(2012–2013), some 91% of children with an illness or disability that did not disrupt their daily life at all used ECEC facilities, compared to just 75% of children whose disability affected their daily life to a small extent and only 62% of children who had an illness or disability that disrupted their daily life to a great extent. In Belgium, additional resources in regular classes are available for disabled children who are able to attend a mainstream nursery, but not for children with moderate or severe intellectual disability (or who are hospitalised). In Denmark, the legal obligation to provide educational support does not cover all children. Unlike with children of school age, the obligation to offer special educational assistance to infants applies only to children with speech and/or language difficulties.

Lack of resources can hinder the implementation of policy frameworks promoting inclusion in mainstream ECEC services. Some problems identified in an OECD survey (OECD, 2009) included inadequate training of teaching staff for working with children with special educational needs, excessive rigidity of assistants regarding who they worked with in inclusive settings, and a lack of appropriate teaching and learning resources. According to the UK Childcare Costs Survey 2014, only 28% of local authorities in England, 18% in Scotland and 6% in Wales reported having sufficient childcare facilities for disabled children. In Hungary, segregated programmes for children with disabilities have a long tradition, with only one-third of nursery schools ensuring places for children with disabilities. More than half of all children with disabilities do not use ECEC services (Hidasi, 2010). In the Czech Republic, it is up to the ECEC managers whether to admit a child with a disability into the kindergarten. Integration is often impossible and children with disabilities stay in home care or attend special kindergartens, of which there are not enough to meet demand (Czech case study). In Croatia, the legislation encourages the participation of disabled children in preschool and there is the possibility of having a personal assistant in class. However, this often does not happen due to the lack of staff with the adequate skills.

Attitudes can also constitute a barrier towards further inclusion. Parents of other children and staff in ECEC services may agree in principle to inclusion, but want it to be applied elsewhere (this is mentioned in the Austrian case study). Disabled children may be perceived as being aggressive towards other children even if that happens only in isolated cases (Austrian case study). Moreover, persistent discriminatory attitudes often limit the curricular options and favour the retention of separate institutions for children with special needs. Some countries have started initiatives to tackle the stigma and prejudices. In the UK, a coalition called the Early Childhood Forum brings together national organisations and professional associations with a view to promoting inclusion. In Croatia in 2009, the UNICEF country office launched the campaign 'The First Three Years are the Most Important!', which aimed to raise awareness about the needs of children with disabilities in their first three years and their families, and which advocated for their inclusion.

It must be noted that in some cases segregation may prevail even if children with disabilities are enrolled in mainstream services. In Scotland and Finland, a rise in the number of special units in mainstream pre-primary education may indicate that special placements are increasing, with children being enrolled in mainstream education institutions; in practice, however, they spend very little time with the rest of the children (NESSE, 2012). There are other countries where segregation prevails. This is the case for instance in Austria, where there is no specific policy framework to promote the inclusion of disabled children and where these children are often placed in special kindergartens. Children with disabilities are excluded from the compulsory free year of kindergarten (OEAR, 2013). As indicated above, segregated programmes for children with disabilities have a long history in Hungary; these seem to be particularly difficult to overcome despite the expressed aims of

public policy. For instance, the 1998 Act on Disabled People's Rights and Equal Opportunity states that if is beneficial for disabled children, they may attend the same classes as the rest of the children. At the same time, allowances for parents to stay at home taking care of disabled children create an incentive to keep children at home without access to specialised support (Kron, 2008).

It must be noted that there can also be large variations between local administrations in the implementation of policies and regulations within the same country. In Sweden, due to the large degree of independence of the municipalities, special educational needs can be addressed by the education system in different ways: teachers of a child can be supported by a resource centre at the local level; a specialist teacher may work with the child within the framework of the activities of the larger group (on a permanent basis or temporary basis); or the child may leave the larger group for limited periods to work with the specialist teacher.

In Austria, education policy has as a goal the inclusion of children with disabilities. However, there is no legal entitlement and class arrangements for disabled children vary across the different regions. According to the educational act in the Czech Republic, children with disabilities have a right to education that accommodates their needs. This does not, however, entail a legal entitlement, as it is up to the ECEC centres to admit children or not.

#### **Data**

Existing estimates of childhood disability vary considerably because of the differences in definitions and the wide range of methodologies and measurement instruments adopted (WHO/UNICEF, 2012). It must also be noted that sometimes it is difficult to identify some of these children before they start compulsory education, and this could be the reason for some of the differences between countries.

Across the OECD in 2001, the median number of children receiving additional resources for disabilities was – as a percentage of all children in pre-primary education (from three years to school age) – 0.86% (OECD, 2005). The percentage of children receiving additional resources for disabilities as a percentage of all children in pre-primary education is typically smaller than the corresponding percentages in compulsory education (see Table 6).

Table 6: Children with disabilities receiving additional resources in pre-primary and compulsory education (%)

Country	Pre-primary	Compulsory
Turkey	0.16	0.58
Bulgaria	0.84	1.06
Finland	0.94	5.04
Italy	1.06	2.51
Slovenia	1.11	2.78
Belgium (Flanders)	1.15	4.01
United Kingdom	1.34	2.90
Spain	1.74	2.85
Slovak Republic	1.77	4.43
Malta	1.89	2.53
Croatia	3.63	3.51
Lithuania	3.75	4.31
Czech Republic	3.82	4.26

Note: The figures indicate the numbers of children with disabilities receiving additional resources in pre-primary and compulsory education as a percentage of all children in pre-primary education, 2005
Source: Deluca (2012)

These findings are in line with the data gathered by the OECD in 2003 for Belgium (Flanders) (0.99%/3.84%), the Czech Republic (4.27%/4.62%), Finland (0.97%/4.01%), Hungary (0.50%/2.00%), Slovakia (1.17%/4.14%), Spain (1.67%/3.61%), and the United Kingdom (England) (1.67%/2.43%) (OECD, 2007). Data from a further survey from the OECD in 2005 in the Baltic States, southeastern Europe and Malta put Lithuania (3.75%) at the top (OECD, 2009).

In the **Czech Republic** for the 2013–2014 school year, 10,063 children with disabilities were identified in preschool education. The statistical data available suggest that in this school year, 2.76% of children in preschool education (aged 3–6 years) were disabled (9,767 children).

In Lithuania there were 52 institutions with special classes for preschool education and 1,555 children were educated there in 2012. Many more children with special educational needs were integrated into mainstream ECEC groups – 13,362 in 2012–2013. Children with special needs constitute 13% of all children enrolled in ECEC. It should be noted in the case of Lithuania that the level of disability of these children is not severe.

#### Children with difficulties and ECEC services

Obtaining data about this group of children is particularly challenging, as there are wide differences across Europe in terms of diagnosis.

There is very little information available about this specific group of children. It is also important to bear in mind that there are wide differences across Europe in the extent to which children are

diagnosed. For instance, while the number of diagnoses of children with ADHD has increased in some countries, especially in northern Europe, the same cannot be said for other Member States, such as France or Italy where the number of children diagnosed with the disorder and treated for it is relatively low (Clark, 2012). In Sweden, about 10% of children are officially diagnosed as being affected by the condition (European Commission, 2013a). In France, the equivalent number is only 3.5% (Lecendreux, 2013). Moreover, the Italian Registry of ADHD estimates a prevalence amounting to only 1% of Italian children between 6 and 18 years of age.

Similarly, autism (or autism spectrum disorder – ASD) has received greater recognition only recently, registering a growth in the number of cases diagnosed and treated (Matson and Kozlowski, 2011). Up to the early 1990s, autism was estimated to affect between four and five children in every 10,000. Bearing in mind the above-mentioned rates, the number of children diagnosed with autism has increased more than 10 times in the past 20 years. This is the result of a number of concurrent factors, such as increased research into these disorders worldwide, adoption of broader concepts and diagnostic criteria, adoption of different methodological approaches and development of better services aimed at diagnosis and intervention (European Commission, 2005). Even in the cases where developmental problems are observed at an early age, either by parents or by an education professional, a time lag commonly exists between the first observation and the correct diagnosis of the child. It must be noted, however, that these types of disorders are still likely to be underdiagnosed due to symptoms only manifesting at a later age and the fact that there are issues regarding the sensitivity and specificity of screening instruments (European Commission, 2013a).

There are still wide differences across Europe regarding the diagnosis and treatment of disorders such as ADHD, these differences arising from varying definitions, diagnosis, political focus, and cultural factors. This is also the case within countries, with poor and rural areas not having the services to provide such diagnosis. It is also important to bear in mind that in many cases the symptoms of these types of disorders may go unnoticed and are only identified when children are at school. This is the case in ASD, where young children without language delays may be able to interact normally in certain contexts. Another reason is the delay between first observation of symptoms and diagnosis; for ADHD this was 2.8 years in France in 2007 (Purper-Ouakil, 2007) and 3.1 years in Italy in 2004 (WFMH, 2004).

#### Children from a disadvantaged background and ECEC services

Despite efforts in preschools to include immigrant children and parents, enrolment rates for children from a migrant or ethnic minority background are substantially lower than for other children (Bennett, 2012; OECD, 2001). Some reasons for this are lower rates of maternal employment, different traditions in childrearing, language barriers, or curricula that do not take diversity into account. Furthermore, costs of and criteria for enrolment that favour children with parents who are working and the attitude of staff towards migrants can also be an issue. Being far away from ECEC services is also a problem, particularly in rural areas, with the divide between rural and urban provision particularly critical in Belgium, Germany, Lithuania, Hungary, Poland, Portugal and Romania (Eurydice, 2009). Further reasons mentioned in the interviews conducted as part of the Belgian case study were that: these groups do not always perceive childcare as a service they can turn to; some people have had negative experience with care services; lack of awareness that the costs can often be reduced to reflect the family's lower income. Waiting lists, lack of familiarity with the administration and admittance policies, not feeling welcome, lack of flexibility on the part of the centre with regard to the parents' working schedule are other issues mentioned.

There are two main approaches to identifying these children: targeting specific groups that meet certain criteria (applied in most European countries); or an individual approach may be taken, where specific needs are assessed and determined on a case-by-case basis (applied in Austria, Iceland, Italy, Luxembourg, Malta and the UK) (Eurydice et al, 2014). The group approach is usually applied in terms of the following (Eurydice et al, 2014):

- linguistic and cultural criteria, when children receive additional support in learning the language of instruction or their mother tongue;
- socioeconomic criteria, which are often income-related;
- geographical criteria, when specific zones or areas receive additional support usually rural areas or the most disadvantaged areas.

#### **Provision**

The number of disadvantaged children receiving additional resources varies from country to country. This is partly because these resources are in many cases language courses and there are great differences between countries in terms of whether migrant children require language support, depending on the type of migration existing in the country (Deluca, 2012). According to data from Eurydice et al (2014), there are three main strategies when it comes to providing additional support for disadvantaged children:

- specific measures to support children's development, learning and attainment;
- provision of additional or specialist staff;
- the establishment of special organisational/funding arrangements.

In terms of additional resources for children with disadvantages, most European countries have initiatives in place to support language learning. This includes support for the language of instruction or the mother tongue of minorities and migrants (as in Finland, Poland and Slovenia) (Eurydice et al 2014). In addition, 17 Member States (mostly countries in central and eastern Europe and the UK) have learning and attainment measures or programmes for children in disadvantaged areas. In terms of additional staff, this includes hiring extra staff and specialist staff, and offering CPD opportunities. In some countries this includes hiring staff with an ethnic or minority background. In relation to organisational settings, this includes reduced child–staff ratios, smaller groups or additional equipment. Lastly, funding is usually in the form of subsidies or lump sums for ECEC centres if they meet specific conditions or provide specific programmes.

#### **Data**

Data about the participation of disadvantaged children in ECEC are scarce due to the different definitions of disadvantage use and the lack of disaggregated data, with data normally referring to Roma children and children with a migrant background (Bennett, 2012; Deluca, 2012). Measurements are done mainly on the basis of income, often leaving out other socioeconomic indicators (Bennett, 2012).

Table 7: Children with disadvantages receiving additional resources in pre-primary and compulsory education (%)

Country	Pre-primary	Compulsory	
Turkey	0.02	0.04	
Serbia	0.09	3.99	
Bulgaria	0.14	0.09	
Croatia	0.24	0.52	
Montenegro	0.52	0.84	
Lithuania	0.61	1.01	
Czech Republic	0.62	0.10	
Slovakia	1.31	0.34	
Spain	1.86	3.70	
Italy	5.08	5.46	
Belgium (Flanders)	6.03	26.46	
Hungary	17.38	16.19	

Note: Numbers of children with disadvantages receiving additional resources in pre-primary and compulsory education as a percentage of all children in that phase of education, 2005

Source: Deluca, 2012

#### Roma children and ECEC

Existing data sources suggest that there are big gaps between the attendance of preschool and kindergarten of Roma and non-Roma children, particularly in Greece and the Czech Republic (Fundamental Rights Agency, 2012). Preschool coverage for Roma children in southeastern Europe is 13.5% among Roma children aged 3–5 years (PCS, 2012). The lack of accurate figures regarding Roma families and children is an obstacle to realistic planning, monitoring and evaluation and can be sometimes used as an excuse for not providing sufficient funds for inclusive policies.

In addition to low participation rates, segregation remains an issue. One form of segregation of the Roma community is related to the fact that Roma families tend to concentrate in disadvantaged areas, where ECEC services become de facto Roma services (in some cases due to the withdrawal of other families from the use of these services). Low funding and low expectations from teachers can lead to poor educational outcomes in these centres (Klaus and Marsh, 2014). Interestingly, Roma parents rarely report the segregation of their children in special classes with poor quality of staff and learning environment. The reason for this is usually the incentives offered to Roma parents (such as free meals or textbooks) in those settings (Bennett, 2012). The most common barriers that Roma children face while accessing mainstream ECEC are the following (Bennett, 2012):

- extreme poverty and poor living conditions;
- teachers' low expectations regarding Roma children;
- limited opportunities for teacher training on diversity;

- the attitudes of other parents;
- the attitudes of Roma parents.

Several measures have been put in place to increase the access and inclusion of Roma children to ECEC. The UNESCO and Council of Europe (2014) *Guidelines on inclusive early childhood care and education for Roma children* highlight the need to maintain a positive image of the Roma child, showing respect for their background and cultural identity, organising the environment to reflect diversity, creating a warm, accepting and inclusive environment and developing majority language and pre-literacy for dual-language children.

Countries such as Croatia, the Czech Republic and Slovenia have introduced targets to increase the participation of Roma children. Roma children might be also supported in maintaining their ethnic and linguistic identity, as is the case in Finland, Poland and Slovenia (Eurydice et al, 2014). The need to increase attendance has also been highlighted in the European Framework Roma Integration Strategy. In its assessment of the National Integration Strategies, the Commission sees a positive trend in this regard. In Hungary, where the enrolment rate of Roma children in pre-primary school is fairly high, obligatory preschool will be introduced from the age of three. Two years of compulsory preschool for two-year olds been introduced in Bulgaria. Meanwhile, Croatia and Slovenia have programmes to train assistants. However, measures undertaken in Greece and Slovakia were not considered satisfactory (European Commission, 2014c).

#### Migrant children and ECEC

Most EU countries extend the right to education to all children of compulsory school age irrespective of their immigration status. Children with immigrant backgrounds are usually enrolled in mainstream early education, but proportionally more of these children may be placed in ECEC centres or schools of lower quality (Bennett, 2012; Lazzari and Vandenbroeck 2012). In most countries for which data are available, native and migrant children enrol equally in early education systems where participation is nearly universal – Belgium, France, the Netherlands, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom. In some countries (the Czech Republic, Estonia and Portugal) children with parents born abroad appear to enrol in ECEC slightly more than native children. The reason for this may be a different tradition of education of children in the country, non-availability of grandparental care or simply because the parents have to work more hours. However, in some countries (such as Austria, Cyprus and Italy), the participation of children with migrant parents in formal ECEC is much lower (Bennett, 2012).

### Inclusive practices in ECEC

This chapter describes the main features of the 15 case studies of additional resources to promote inclusion in mainstream ECEC.<sup>11</sup> While the initial aim was to have five case studies per category of children requiring additional resources, only two formally evaluated initiatives were found that focused specifically on children with difficulties. The other three case studies relating to additional resources for children with difficulties were replaced with case studies that aimed at making ECEC services more inclusive for all types of children.

#### Children with disabilities or difficulties

#### **Tiny Signers, Austria**

The EU-funded Tiny Signers programme promotes the use of baby sign language in Austria, Lithuania, Slovenia and the UK. This programme targets children who are either deaf or hard of hearing, focusing on children under the age of two. It also targets students, teachers, parents and also hearing babies and children. The overall objective of the project is to implement an innovative approach with both hearing and deaf babies through the development and use of baby sign language and thus improve the quality of early communication and language learning in the participating countries and further develop the community of signing babies. The baby sign language courses are developed on the basis of national sign languages in close cooperation with deaf communities and childcare. The programme provides training in sign language for families, as well as sign language training for students in the secondary training college for nursery school teachers. The initiative lasted from 2010 until 2012, with some of the activities still ongoing despite the end of the EU-funded programme.

The evaluation is based on a long-term study. Some 102 participants were divided into three groups: the first group was the training group in which the children were offered 'Baby Sign'. The second group was a control group, in which the parents offered the children more spoken language. The third group was also a control group in which the participants did not receive any special instructions on how to communicate with their children. The result was that the children of the training group showed advantages in several linguistic areas. As for teacher training, the only evaluation available is based on the answers of the students who took the training. A questionnaire with 10 questions was distributed amongst practitioners and 34 interviews were held with students in the secondary professional school for childcare. The students' answers show that the module enhances their awareness of the characteristics of the deaf community, and of the importance and possibilities of communication with the deaf.

#### Dr Jedlička Integrated Support Centre, Czech Republic

The goal of the Dr Jedlička Centre for Integrated Support was to create a suitable system of education support to increase quality of education care for children with disabilities. The services comprised mainly counselling and expert consultations for educational staff and diagnoses of children with disabilities. Employees of the centre identified the difficulties experienced by the children with disabilities and provided counselling for teachers and parents. The centre cooperated with kindergartens in terms of a joint search for alternative ways of communication (such as sign language). Family therapy and counselling for children with disabilities were also offered to teachers in kindergartens. These support activities were mainly undertaken by special pedagogues and psychologists working for the centre. This support was provided from 2009 to 2012.

The types of additional resources provided are also described in more detail in Annex 2. While the intention was to have case studies showcasing a wide range of additional resources, most case studies include staff training, followed by individualised education plans and specialist support to staff.

Data were collected using focus groups and individual semi-structured interviews supplemented with a questionnaire survey (233 respondents). The respondents included teachers, pupils, teaching assistants, project implementers and pupils' parents. Staff reported that the assistance they received contributed towards the socialisation of children with the rest of their peers and a better understanding among staff and parents of the limits and possibilities in the care and education of these children. It also encouraged the general acceptance of disabilities. The most beneficial activities were those in which the whole family was involved, and learning and attention deficits were dealt with. The greatest benefit was described as being the identification of the target children before their learning deficits or disabilities could become worse. Where this early diagnosis is missing, children are transferred to special kindergartens and schools unnecessarily. Cooperation with teachers supported communication between family and school, the search for new ways to deal with difficulties, strengthening of resources and defining competencies of all cooperating parties. Group work within the project helped children understand and respect one another; the group activities also had a relaxation effect. Work with children with severe combined disabilities strengthened the positive attitude of carers to these children.

#### Language and activity-based intervention programme, Finland

This programme focused on verbal and non-verbal performance and play behaviour in children diagnosed as having specific language impairment. The purpose of the intervention was to improve language skills, perceptual skills and play behaviour in children with a diagnosis of specific language impairment who are enrolled in early education centres. This included two-hourly sessions of activities a week. One of the activities was called the Kili programme and it integrated language with physical exercise, as well as playing with rhymes and sounds. The other activity was called the Kuttu programme and it consisted of play activities coordinated through pictures with play themes. Thus the objective was to develop language skills and the functions that support their development (attention, motor behaviour, perception and play). This intervention was provided within the framework of a study (Sajaniemi et al, 2010) to 42 children in daycare centres in Helsinki.

The intervention was evaluated comparing 42 children split into a control group (20 children) and an intervention group (22 children). The pre-test measurement of verbal and non-verbal abilities was done using several language and performance scales and children's play was measured using an adaptation of the Symbolic Play Test. Post-test measurements were carried out two to three weeks after the intervention period using the same scales. Children were allocated into intervention and control groups, without the examiner knowing which child went to which group.

No short-term effect on language development was found in the case of the language intervention in Helsinki. Non-verbal abilities and play behaviour (skills which precede language learning according to research) did improve in comparison to the control group. However, the skills of those children with more severe speech and language impairments did not improve after the intervention. This made the evaluators raise questions regarding the suitability of this format of intervention for these group of children, whose individualised education programme (IEP) should be reassessed and who should receive other type of intervention.

#### **Small Steps programme, Netherlands**

In 1989 the Dutch Down Syndrome Association decided to implement the Australian Small Steps programme, which focuses on the age group 0–5 years. This programme is based on the idea that parents are the best educators for their disabled children. The goals of this programme are based on cognitive theories and are focused on the empowerment of the child and their family. There is a

programme book and an instruction video. The instruction methods are linked to techniques that give support to the acquisition of language. Children are offered a controlled set of stimuli.

The strengths and weaknesses of the programme were identified by analysing interviews with the parents of five children. Parents and professionals were also interviewed about their perspective on the impact of the programme. Children were tested to measure the impact of the programme on their direct observable development. In a pre- and post-test scheme, no significant impact on the direct observable development of children could be observed. Parents were very positive about the programme: 85% of the families reported a positive effect on the development of their child (88% of the professionals reported a positive impact). Some 90% of the parents reported a positive effect on their parenting itself (93% of professionals reported this positive impact).

#### Disabled children's access to childcare (DCATCH) pilots, UK

This initiative ran between March 2008 and March 2011 and involved funding 10 local authorities to pilot ways of improving the range and quality of childcare for families of disabled children, and involving families in shaping childcare services. The 10 DCATCH pilot activities were designed by the local authorities in consultation with families, with the aim of identifying local needs and priorities. The idea was to deliver childcare for disabled children as part of a holistic package of care adapted to local and family needs. This package included measures on the following topics: information and outreach work; brokerage of childcare for disabled children and young people; improved integration of services; funding additional childcare provision; improving the data on disabled children; parent and child participation in service design and delivery and workforce development.

The evaluation included the following components:

- a qualitative scoping study to select programmes and interventions for further analysis and to carry out detailed preparatory work to inform the design of the impact survey;
- a quantitative impact survey of parents in DCATCH pilot authority areas to measure the impact of DCATCH;
- a qualitative acceptability and impact study to explore the acceptability and impact of DCATCH support/interventions to families;
- a qualitative process evaluation to explore key interventions being developed by pilots, and provide information for other local authorities to share successful practice.

The methods used included a survey of parents, focus groups with families and the direct observation of training activities and events.

The main finding of impact evaluation of DCATCH was that, overall, there is evidence that perceived accessibility of childcare had improved as a result of DCATCH activities in pilot areas but there had been no significant impact on the take-up of childcare or the satisfaction of parents with the quality of care provided. Furthermore, no impact of DCATCH was found on the capacity to obtain information about childcare information in the local area. However, parents in DCATCH areas were slightly more likely to have used the Family Information Service to obtain childcare information than in those areas where DCATCH was not implemented. Therefore, it concluded that DCATCH had a small but significant impact on changing the perceived barriers to finding suitable childcare.

#### Early intensive behavioural intervention (EIBI), Sweden/Norway

Early intensive behavioural intervention (EIBI) is a structured treatment for children diagnosed with ASD, which is based on the principles of behavioural analysis. EIBI is based on applied behaviour analysis (ABA) and training starts before diagnosed children enter primary school. The intervention requires at least 30 hours a week and lasts for two years or more. During the intervention, children receive skills training in areas such as communication, play, language and motor skills. This intervention started in 2007 and lasted until 2014. The prolongation of funding will allow the activities to be continued until 2020.

The effectiveness study made use of a quasi-experimental group design, in which an experiment group was compared to a control group receiving treatment as usual. Treatment groups were not randomly allocated. Some 35 autistic children receiving EIBI were compared to 24 children in a control group who received the usual treatment. The children receiving EIBI scored higher in adaptive behaviour, and showed an improvement in symptoms of autism.

#### **Nuffield Early Language Intervention, UK**

The Nuffield Early Language Intervention is an evidence-based oral language intervention for children in nursery and reception class (the first year of primary school). It targets children who show weakness in their oral language skills and are therefore at risk of having later difficulties with reading. The overall goal of the programme is to help children with language difficulties improve their oral language skills to provide a better foundation for literacy and learning when they enter primary school. The intervention is implemented over 30 weeks and it targets three key skills areas: vocabulary knowledge, narrative skills and listening skills. Nursery school staff and teaching assistants receive training to deliver the programme. This language intervention took place between January 2009 and December 2010.

The Nuffield Early Language Intervention was implemented as a randomised control trial (RCT). The first RCT included 180 children in nurseries (90 children were included in the intervention group and the other 90 in the control group). The intervention group received a 30-week intervention and was tested throughout using standard language assessment tools for the age group. A second RCT involved 34 schools. In addition to the formal evaluation, the teaching assistants were invited to give feedback to the research team throughout the process. They also received questionnaires before and after the intervention so that their insight could be taken into consideration by the research team.

The results of the assessment tests immediately after the intervention and six months after completion of the intervention show that the children in the intervention group performed significantly better on measures of oral language and narrative skills as compared to the control group. They also showed clear improvements on measures of phonological awareness. However, improvement in word-level literacy skills was somewhat weaker. Regarding the overall goal of the intervention to ensure a smoother transition between nursery and primary school for the target group, the evaluation also produced positive results. The assessment six months after the intervention showed that the intervention group was performing at a similar level in reading comprehension as their peers who were not selected for the trial.

#### Children with disadvantages

#### Improving access to childcare for disadvantaged groups, Belgium

The Belgian case study focuses specifically on the Flemish community in the Brussels region. Although the number of ECEC places has increased in recent years, availability remains scarce

and disadvantaged children have much less access to services than their more affluent peers (MAS, 2007). This project aims to increase the accessibility of childcare for vulnerable groups, focusing on foreign nationals coming to live in Brussels. This meant getting more disadvantaged children into daycare, but also making families feel welcomed, supported and comfortable enough that they wish to stay in childcare. This programme took place from 2003 to 2012.

The project was evaluated through a survey on access policies in 89 daycare centres, a survey of 150 mothers regarding their search process, and two focus groups composed of centre directors. The results were compared with a similar study from 2005.

Working on accessibility, diversity and more parental involvement improved the overall quality of childcare. The percentage of children from low-income families and from single parents more than doubled in five years. The number of children from ethnic minority families also increased significantly. The project expanded from a pilot of three childcare centres in 2003 to 89 by 2012, covering nearly all Flemish subsidised centres in the Brussels region, extending the focus from newcomers to all types of vulnerable families. Childcare centres that participated in the project were more likely to have implemented the 20% norm (see section on additional funding in Annex 2) than other childcare centres in the Brussels region. Training on diversity and social policy became integrated into the standard programme of the Flemish Community Commission (VGC), the Flemish representation in the Brussels region. The professional competences of preschool teachers were enhanced by important aspects such as greater respect for children and parents from socially disadvantaged environments and the development of communication strategies with parents.

#### Social, emotional development of preschoolers with sociocultural disadvantages, Czech Republic

Using funds from the Ministry of Education, an NGO based in Prague developed a methodology of work with children from socially disadvantaged or culturally different environments. The project was undertaken in 2011–2012. The project objectives included the transfer of empirically proven practices and methods in Czech kindergartens. The specific objectives included increasing the professional competencies of kindergarten teachers in working with children from socially disadvantaged families and in building cooperation with parents. In the initial stage of the project, the selected kindergartens were approached and asked to identify children's needs and their own institutional needs. To address the difficulties mentioned by ECEC staff, specific activities were designed as a part of the methodological material.

The evaluation included visits to kindergartens, semi-structured questionnaires to be filled in by the teachers who implemented the activities and open-ended interviews with teachers at the beginning and the end of activities. Staff provided specific information relating to the outcomes of activities as well as difficulties faced when implementing them. Thirteen teachers from each of 13 kindergartens participating in the project leading the implementation filled in questionnaires before and after completion of 27 activities.

According to the evaluation, the activities aimed at cooperation between children with special educational needs (SEN) and other children, and integration had the worst outcomes in comparison with the rest of the activities. The most successful activities were those aimed at increasing the involvement and participation of children, and their cooperation with teachers.

#### ASP programme for socially vulnerable children, Denmark

The ASP Project was a research project targeting children and adolescents in Danish daycare and residential institutions. The project ran from 2005 to 2009 and its objective was to analyse how

daycare and residential institutions could contribute to combating a childhood marked by a negative social heritage through social mobility. The core of ASP is to educate and train preschool teachers to reflect on their daily practice and so enable them to improve children's learning with a focus on socially disadvantaged children. Preschool staff construct their understanding of children, learning, social disadvantage and health based on their participation in the practices of the preschool. In the ASP programme, staff actively integrate new knowledge and reflections from education and training courses with their previous practice-based knowledge and experience.

Twenty-nine preschools were randomly allocated to an intervention group and 29 to a control group. The preschool staff assessed each child with the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire. Data were collected from 2,369 children on three occasions, at the start of the project in September 2006, in May 2007 and at the end of May 2008. Two statistical methods were used to analyse the data, firstly a non-parametric growth curve model that takes into account the hierarchical nature of the data, and secondly a difference-in-difference method that uses only within-child differences between the intervention group and the control group.

ASP improves the quality of ECEC services in a setting where preschool is already more or less universal. The evaluation shows a correlation between the implementation of the ASP Project's intervention and effect in relation to children's skills. The daycare institutions in which the ASP Project was successfully implemented show that the children do better. Staff no longer perceive socially vulnerable children as incompetent children. Pedagogical efforts are organised to promote children's skills. Several of the daycare institutions are involved in continuation work with the ASP Project, particularly in developing systematic methods and documentation of the pedagogical work.

#### 'A good start', Hungary

The practice 'A good start: Scaling-up access to quality services for young Roma children' took place from June 2010 to June 2012. The part of the programme taking place in Hungary included training Roma community members as mediators to establish a link between institutions and the community. It also included activities raising the awareness of parents about the importance of ECEC and making preschools more inclusive by providing assistance to Roma families during the enrolment process.

The evaluation of the whole initiative (not just the additional resources in ECEC) was carried out through a household survey, interviews and focus groups. An online database was also used to monitor children's attendance and the participation of parents in activities. According to the evaluation results, enrolment among the cohort of 3–5-year olds seems to have increased substantially over the project period, although it is not clear how much of this is due to natural increase as children get older. The all-Romani kindergarten in Nyíregyháza received support to develop the educational environment and equipment for 210 children. The relations between ECEC staff and parents improved, partly due to the Home Preschool Community Liaison programme, which strengthened the presence and understanding of Roma culture in the institution and changed the attitudes of both parents and staff members. These shifting perceptions were among the factors cited as having an effect upon attendance. All learning outcomes that were measured among the 3–5 age cohort improved. Furthermore, there were modest increases in reading books to children, drawing with children, and teaching the alphabet or counting. In the localities where reading clubs were introduced, there was an increase in book reading from 78% to 91%.

#### Childhood Development Initiative, Tallaght, Ireland

The aim of the Childhood Development Initiative was to improve the outcomes for children in disadvantaged areas. The initiative was supported and evaluated from 2007 to 2013. Its early years'

programme was delivered through existing local early years' services and structures. The entire intervention group staff was trained in the HighScope programme and in Síolta – the National Quality Framework for Early Childhood Education. All children attended the basic service and children with speech or language needs received additional speech/language therapy. Staff were also trained by therapists to deliver special speech/language programmes where necessary. The intervention sites also provided a home visiting scheme and a parenting programme.

The project was evaluated with a cluster randomised trial. Early years' services were used as units. The sources of information used were: standardised child assessments taken over time; child social/behavioural profiles completed by early years' service/primary staff and parents; and interviews with parents. Positive outcomes were achieved in areas such as improved behaviour and social skills, child attendance, and better speech and language prognosis on entry to school. Moreover, the discovery of an 'indirect' effect on parenting – with the quality of the home learning environment positively associated with the number of parent sessions attended – is an indication that the intervention children and their siblings will likely benefit in the long term from a more positive home learning environment. The practice in the settings improved and was maintained over the lifetime of the programme. In particular there was greater awareness among staff of their role in improving the life chances of the children by working with them in a language-rich environment, paying close attention to their behaviour and working in partnership with parents.

#### Making services more inclusive

These interventions are aimed directly at ECEC personnel as an 'upgrade' of their skills, while the ultimate target remains the inclusion of children in ECEC. What these projects also have in common is that the interventions to a large extent take a developmental and inclusive approach in involving ECEC staff in the development of the interventions (training, tools, evaluations and so on).

#### Pilot inclusion project, Pirkkala, Finland

Since 2004 the municipality of Pirkkala in Finland has been gradually transforming its daycare services to become more inclusive. The process was supported in particular by providing inclusion training to ECEC staff. Following positive results of the pilot project in one ECEC centre, an inclusive approach to daycare centres has been implemented in the entire municipality, with staff in all daycare groups given the opportunity to undergo a three-day training course in inclusion by the end of 2014. Simultaneously, the number of ECEC special needs teachers in the municipality has been increased from one to four.

The evaluation included desk research, observation of four kindergarten groups, interviews with staff at four kindergartens individually and in groups, as well as a group interview with four ECEC special education teachers.

The evaluation concluded that all the daycare groups had incorporated the new tools and principles for inclusive ECEC in their daily work. This included using signs to support communication and images to support and guide activities, play or behaviour; structuring time, environment and activities; and observing children by using observation forms and discussing the findings.

During the follow-up phone interviews, the interviewees stated that staff in general felt better equipped to work with special needs children after having gone through the training sessions. Staff felt that training had helped improve communication and cooperation skills.

#### Inclusive daycare services, Roskilde, Denmark

This was a pilot project implemented in the Roskilde municipality from 2006 to 2009. The project targeted all children in five selected daycare institutions (nurseries and kindergartens; children 0–6 years of age). The aim of the project was to develop strategies and interventions to improve the environment and group dynamics in such a way that all children would feel part of the group instead of being singled out, ultimately leading to the inclusion of children in vulnerable positions into the mainstream environment. Specific measures of the project included training staff of five selected daycare institutions, establishing ad hoc counsellors to the staff and training caregivers on the care of premature babies.

In this case study, there was a mid-term evaluation and a final evaluation. These were carried out using focus group interviews and a questionnaire-based survey among those involved in the project implementation. Participating institutions documented their efforts and results in 'turning point narratives', and the municipality drafted reports to the responsible ministry to document results of funding.

The desired institutional change was achieved, which became obvious in responses from the daycare staff who stated that they felt empowered and had achieved a better understanding of the concept and implementation of inclusion.

#### 'A good childhood - a joint responsibility', Ballerup, Denmark

This programme covered all children and young people from 0–18 years in the Ballerup municipality. It ran from 2004 until 2009 and its objective was to support daycare facilities, leisure centres and schools in efforts to ensure that children and young people with special needs can stay as long as possible in a mainstream setting. One of the projects entitled 'Continuity and coherence in children's life – transition between home, institution and school' focused on the transitions in a child's or young person's life throughout their whole childhood and adolescence. Another other project entitled 'Qualification of inclusive pedagogical practice in daycare facilities 0–5 years' focused specifically on training of kindergarten teachers in the field of inclusion. The concept underlying the programme was to modify 'mainstream' settings in such a way that children with special needs can thrive and develop in them.

Three evaluations were carried out at different phases of the project:

- an initial evaluation of the existing practices and structures in the ECEC institutions of the municipality in relation to children with special needs, with the purpose of identifying strengths and weaknesses and providing recommendations for change (based on observations and focus-group interviews among 16 randomly selected institutions);
- two mid-term evaluations assessing whether adjustments to the implementation of the programme
  were necessary: the first consisted of a description and analysis of the implementation of the
  programme in the various institutions; the second was based on a questionnaire distributed to
  managers and employees in all involved institutions, to get their view on the progress made and
  the preliminary outcomes.

The staff involved in implementing the programme and projects were willing to commit to the programme, but several structural factors hindered its success, specifically existing routines, lack of staff and the general approach of focusing on single children rather than on their environments and the ECEC settings. Both managers and employees surveyed for the evaluation expressed a better understanding of the term 'inclusion' and of why it is important to work actively towards inclusion.

One of the goals achieved in this programme was to retain more children with special needs within mainstream education. From the 2008–2009 to the 2009–2010 school year, the number of children in 'special education classes' was reduced from 160 to 154, and the number of children removed from home and placed in an institution was reduced from 87 to 76. This was achieved by special needs assistants and teachers advising teachers on how to keep children in the mainstream environment (rather than taking children out of class to provide special education).

# Case studies on additional resources for children with disabilities or difficulties Success factors

**Use of digital technology:** Digitising the Small Steps programme in the Netherlands allowed practitioners and parents with mild intellectual disabilities to gain easier access to the programme. This programme will be accompanied by digital 'frequently asked questions' and exchanges of experiences by parents and professionals. This digitisation does not mean that early intervention experts will no longer be available.

**Translation into other languages:** The Dutch Down Syndrome Association is also building an e-learning trajectory for professionals hoping to bring the quality of support to a higher level; the programme has been translated into Russian, Cantonese, Turkish and Vietnamese. This could help families from other ethnic cultural backgrounds living in the Netherlands who have a family member with a cognitive impairment.

**Adapting training courses to new audiences:** Another way of scaling up is adapting training courses to different audiences. In the Tiny Signers programme, the initial sign language course for children and their parents was used as the basis for the training for future teachers.

**Running international projects:** The fact that Tiny Signers was an international project where some partners (such as those from the UK) had more experience in the area allowed the Austrian partners to gain from the exchange.

**Mixing groups of children:** Parents participating in the DCATCH project felt that the mix of children with and without disabilities brought positive impacts for both groups. As social interaction and stimulation was considered to be in short supply outside of school, this was regarded as a key benefit of the activities that the disabled children were accessing. The uptake of workforce development initiatives as part of the DCATCH project was encouraged by incentives such as providing accreditation or grants to buy specialised equipment. Rather than one-off courses, there was ongoing training support.

**Appointing a project contact:** In the case of the Nuffield Early Language Intervention in the UK, it was useful that there was a project contact appointed at each centre, which made communication between the research team and the education teams easier.

**Expertise and resources of NGOs:** Working in partnership with NGOs was mentioned as one of the success factors in the Austrian, Dutch and UK (DCATCH) case studies as it helps them bring in specific expertise and facilitates contacts with service users. This is the case – for instance – with the Dutch Down Syndrome Association, which reaches about 80% of families with a newborn baby with Down Syndrome, with 150 families a year introduced to the Small Steps programme. While in many cases activities are stopped once the funding runs out, in the Austrian and Czech case studies some activities were continued by NGOs that found funding elsewhere.

**Political support**: The importance of political support was highlighted in two case studies. In the case of Austria, it was not possible to incorporate sign language in the curriculum for ECEC teachers due to a lack of support at ministerial level. In contrast, the Dutch case study found that as a consequence of the new law on inclusive education there is considerable interest from schools in using the Small Steps programme.

#### Obstacles to success

The need to identify a subcontractor ('Kinderhände') to offer the relevant courses and training in Austria created difficulties in the Tiny Signers initiative This included physical distance, a lack of experience in project implementation, contact persons not being consistently available and little feedback in regard to work progress.

**Requirement for ECEC centres to provide support**: In the EIBI intervention in Sweden it was pointed out that parents can feel overwhelmed when trying to provide support/therapy to their autistic children. In future the expert centre coordinating the intervention will therefore ask ECEC centres to provide more support. As staff or centres do not receive any type of remuneration for providing these services, the feasibility of this will depend on the intrinsic motivation of each centre.

**Administrative burden:** The Czech initiative pointed out as weaknesses the considerable administrative burden and issues concerning timely funding of all activities in the early stage of project implementation.

**Lack of capacity to meet demand:** Another negative aspect from the point of view of the Czech project implementers, was the impossibility of catering for the needs of all people interested, whose number grew during the project and some of whom had to be turned down.

**Use of reader-friendly material:** It is important that the materials allow the programme to be used easily: the large number of pages in the Small Steps handbook was mentioned as a barrier to making the use of the programme more widespread.

**Bringing all staff on board:** Reaching all staff to encourage them to take part in workplace development initiatives proved to be a challenge in the DCATCH project, particularly in the case of childminders.

#### Case studies on providing additional resources for children with disadvantages

The importance of co-ownership does not refer only to experts and practitioners. All case studies show that one of the strongest components of good practice was the involvement of parents. There are benefits on both sides, and sometimes positive effects on families are even more pronounced than positive effects on the individual child's progress. This cooperation with families, as illustrated in Irish and Hungarian case studies, is especially important when there are large differences between the mainstream population and the community that the child's family belongs to (Roma or Irish Travellers), as these communities may not be involved in the life of institutions to the same extent. Intervention measures which foster healthy development or help with some developmental difficulties, can be successful only in partnership with families. As suggested in the Hungarian case study, the use of community mediators is a strong tool in bridging differences and bringing institutions and families together.

#### **Success factors in case studies**

The **Belgian** project highlights the importance of connecting both bottom-up and top-down levels, so that policy and practice influence each other positively. A feedback mechanism is one of the factors that characterises a good developmental programme.

The **Czech** project interconnected theoretical knowledge with practical experience, which culminated in formulating the methodological guidelines. The evidence shows that the strongest factors contributing to the educational improvement of disadvantaged children were activities focused on

the development of social skills (learning to make contacts, learning to express ideas and solve conflicts) and emotional skills (recognising emotions and feelings, ability to describe them and explain reasons for anger). Special activities, materials distributed to children and common events for children and parents organised by the teachers had an important impact on these improvements.

The 'A Good Start' project in **Hungary** highlights that well-designed ECEC interventions can play a pivotal role in reinforcing social relations and capital by reducing segregation and prejudice, while helping young children of disadvantaged communities to grow.

The management's professionalism and ability to gain the support of employees involved in the project proved to be the most significant factor deciding whether the ASP Programme in **Denmark** was implemented in the individual daycare institution. The ASP Programme helped to develop a method with practice cases focusing on the socially vulnerable child's skills, the organisation of activities to support the child's skills, and subsequent discussion in the staff group. This method is still used in this daycare institution.

The CDI project in **Ireland** offered a two-year programme that was affordable to parents. Factors that were found to have a positive impact included the parental supports built into the project including the Parent/Carer facilitator, the Parent Plus programme and the home visiting scheme. In addition the presence, on site, of the speech and language therapy (SLT) service was positive. The ongoing training of staff and the investment in planning and reflection time as part of their contract was innovative and helped improve the quality of the learning environment over time. Furthermore, the provision of an SLT role in the CDI programme allowed increased, quicker and easier access for children and parents to SLT services on the site of the children's early years' services. This indicates that if a service such as SLT is offered in a child- and family-centred way at an early stage, children and families will use the service. By training early years' practitioners and offering an SLT service to children at an early age, children can be identified and treated earlier than would be the case if they had to wait to visit a clinic-based therapist. In turn, this will help them get ready to learn once in school and will have positive implications for their general social development and later life outcomes.

#### **Obstacles**

Continuing to shape the social function of childcare in the **Belgian** initiative requires resources for professional and pedagogical support, as well as political attention. The implementation of the new childcare decree will be one of the deciding factors here. Investment in decent data collection is needed to better measure results.

To ensure sustainability of the **Czech** initiative, there is a need for political support, continued funding and additional training.

Financial contributions from local budgets are essential to promote sustainability and enhance the quality of ECEC services. Without investment from the state, long-term ECEC strategies cannot succeed. Continued cooperation with all stakeholders is also required. More specifically, in the case of **Roma children**, it is important that the competency building of Roma mothers is continued.

In the **Danish** case study it was pointed out that if staff perceive too much work pressure, the implementation of the project into everyday practice can be difficult. The most vulnerable children are also the children who are hardest to reach.

Mechanisms to share the learning of the project need to be put in place so that the new initiatives are supported in their design and functioning by the experiences of parenting early intervention programmes (PEIPs) such as the Childhood Development Initiative in **Ireland**. The PEI network could have a role here. For a true move towards inclusion, there is a need to really engage the statutory system as a whole, both locally and nationally. There is a risk of reverting to previous practice if additional funding is removed. The initiative was expensive and for the learning to be sustained beyond the project site smart, creative and sustained investment strategies will need to be developed which will allow services to meet the level of practice quality and parental engagement that this project has shown can be effective.

#### Case studies on making services more inclusive for all children

In the two case studies from Denmark: 'The Roskilde project' and 'A good childhood', the more general approaches of inclusive ECEC focus on establishing an educational setting that allows for all children to be educated and taken care of together. The following main learning points can be identified.

If a facility decides to implement inclusive early childhood education and care, **all educators need to commit to the idea**. Thus, the management of a nursery or kindergarten has to make sure that their staff are willing to work with special needs children and work with inclusive approaches. Ownership and commitment among the ECEC personnel have been highlighted, across the cases, as important factors for the success and, particularly, the sustainability of the interventions.

The **involvement of the ECEC staff in developing the intervention** and the fact that the projects have taken their point of departure from **concrete issues or dilemmas** in ECEC practice have been an important element in these approaches. This point about basing the intervention in the context and respecting this context is important to have in mind when considering transfer of the learning points of these cases to other settings.

To guarantee the success of qualitative inclusive approaches, the **facility's staff need to be trained in inclusive education**. If a facility decides to open up its services to children with special needs (or to work towards maintaining such children in the mainstream services), every educator must be given training in advance – as well as further education during the process. Newly employed educators should also be given training in the field of inclusive education to ensure sustainability beyond the actual intervention.

**Tools that encourage dialogue and reflection** among the staff have been particularly important in upgrading the skills of the ECEC personnel with regard to inclusive teaching approaches, and also in inducing change.

In addition to the training of regular staff, some facilities have **expanded their educational team with special needs teachers**. These teachers can provide training and guidelines to the regular staff on how to interact with children who need increased support, and to function as counsellors to the regular staff.

The environment of the kindergarten, nursery or preschool also **needs to be adapted to the needs of an inclusive education approach**. For example, a common room should be offered to enable all children to play together and form friendships – in that way children can develop their awareness of being social actors.

#### **Success factors**

To establish effective partnerships with other stakeholders, it is important to have a **common understanding of the goals of the project** and how to achieve them. This has been pivotal for the development of the municipality strategy on inclusion in the Danish 'Good childhood' initiative and for the internalisation in the organisational culture that is to ensure continued work after the programme ends.

More concretely, the change of perspective from focusing on the individual to **focusing on social relations and settings** was considered an important step in working towards more inclusive ECEC services. In the Roskilde project, rather than singling children out by referring them for diagnosis and treatment, the approach aimed at keeping them in the mainstream services and not labelling them as 'sick' or 'vulnerable'. The idea behind this approach was that putting labels on children who are considered problematic (by adults) can actually counteract the objective of inclusion, as the child risks stigmatisation by being singled out as different from the group.

Also in Denmark, the evaluation of the Roskilde project shows that having all ECEC staff taking part in inclusion training (as opposed to other institutions where selected staff members were to act as change agents), meant that **all staff had a common understanding** of and language for speaking about this new approach in their work.

**Using video observations** was perceived by those who were involved in the Roskilde project as very important to implement changes and increase reflection.

The Roskilde project involved not only ECEC staff, but also stakeholders in the municipality, with the aim of creating a shared vision of inclusion at all levels. **Involving the local authority was perceived to be essential** in order to be able to introduce the changes, as otherwise ECEC services cannot manage to implement these changes on their own (from a financial perspective and from a policy leverage perspective). Similarly, the 'Good Childhood' project, also in Denmark, funded most of its activities (including their evaluation) with redirected municipal funds.

**Support from the ECEC special needs teacher** and the director of the daycare centre in Pirkkala (Finland) helped to prioritise the initiatives that needed to be tested at the daycare centre. On-the-job training for the ECEC special needs teachers can also supplement or replace some of the training provided by external trainers.

#### **Obstacles**

In the Danish 'Good childhood' project the role of the special needs assistants was considered to constitute a barrier to mainstreaming inclusive practices. This is because they focused their work on specific children rather than developing a more inclusive pedagogy or a more inclusive environment. This was compounded by the lack of specific training of the rest of the ECEC staff, which made it difficult to establish interdisciplinary cooperation. This led the evaluators of the programme to recommend the reorganisation of the function of the PPR and special needs assistants to establish closer ties and cooperation with the ECEC personnel in the institutions. <sup>12</sup> The organisation of their work and the conditions under which they provided consultancy to the daycare staff were very

In Denmark, parents or ECEC staff – in cooperation with the parents – can turn to the municipalities for a educational-psychological advisory service (PPR), which provides services such as psychological care, guidance for parents and training for children with linguistic impairments following the official guidelines of the Ministry of Education. These activities can be carried out both outside and in the context of daycare institutions.

standardised and needed to be made more adaptable to the individual situation and needs. The PPR function was also considered to be very detached from the day-to-day running of the institutions.

Another obstacle identified in one of the evaluations of the 'Good childhood' programme was the fact that due to the lack of resources (especially time), involvement and communication, the implementation of the programme added significantly to the daily workload. The evaluators found that this led to resistance and frustration among those involved. One of the issues that affected communication was the fact that there were different interpretations of the concept 'inclusion', which was not a problem in the Roskilde project as it was discussed in meetings and in consultations with experts.

#### **Transferability**

Relying on staff working regularly in early childhood education and care (ECEC) can increase the transferability of an intervention, because it can then be implemented in any setting that has the capacity to have its staff trained, as in the Nuffield Early Language Intervention or the early intensive behavioural intervention (EIBI) in Norway and Sweden, where publicly funded special needs assistants were able to act as EIBI therapists. This also permits better quality control of the services provided. An intervention that takes place in a mainstream setting also has the advantage that the target group can receive support in a familiar setting with familiar staff. Children are therefore less likely to develop barriers against the intervention. While relying on the specialist expertise of external partners can be very valuable, it may be difficult to find an institution that can deliver the additional resources. This was the case in the Tiny Signers project in Austria, where it was challenging to find a subcontractor with specific skills (a high level of competence in Austrian Sign Language together with a pedagogical background) and that already had contacts with the deaf community.

When implementing a new inclusive practice within ECEC settings it is important to ensure that there are enough resources to introduce it – particularly time, one of the main constraints identified in the implementation of the Danish 'A good childhood – a joint responsibility' project. To involve ECEC staff effectively, it is also important to promote a sense of ownership of inclusive practices. In some of the case studies (such as the Belgian project on improving access to childcare for disadvantaged groups, and the Czech project on social and emotional development of preschoolers with sociocultural disadvantages), staff were given the opportunity to reflect on their practice and to develop materials and procedures themselves. It is also particularly important that management understand the importance of inclusive practices. This can be encouraged by, for example, involving them in training and working groups, as happened in the Belgian project.

The overall quality of ECEC services has an impact on the extent to which inclusive practices can be transferred. For example, in the Dr Jedlička Integrated Support Centre case study (Czech Republic), overcrowding in groups was pointed out as a barrier to transferability. The importance of high quality is also mentioned in the Finnish language and activity-based intervention programme; this highlights the importance of having a well-organised and structured classroom and schedule of activities, giving children the opportunity to communicate.

Finally, published training materials, such as a training manual, can promote the transferability of an intervention as they enable the intervention methods to be passed on in an efficient and standardised manner. However, these materials need to be adapted to the particular ECEC environment. This applies to international standardised programmes as well. In the case of the EIBI programme, which was developed in the US, the intervention was shortened to two years when implemented in the UK because children start school at an earlier age. As ECEC services in the UK focus more on education, EIBI is oriented towards learning skills, whereas in Sweden and Norway the emphasis of the programme is on social skills.

#### Sustainability

Funding is obviously a key element to ensure the sustainability of inclusive practices. In both the Czech and Austrian cases of services for children with disabilities, some of the activities that were part of a subsidised project were continued through other means once the funding ended (for example, in the Czech case through other funding channels available to NGOs and payments from parents), but this is not always the case. As stated in the previous section, it is important to bear in

mind that ECEC staff may need to be replaced while undertaking training or implementing inclusive practices. This needs to be taken into account when budgeting the implementation of new practices. In cases where inclusive practices can be embedded in the activities of the ECEC centre, the cost can be lowered. In the case of EIBI in the UK and the US, given that attendance at ECEC is lower than in Sweden, more parents have to deliver the intervention in their own homes and assume the costs of the intervention themselves.

European funds have been crucial to putting some of the projects in place. In the project for disabled children in the Czech Republic, the Operational Programme Education for Competitiveness (part of the European Social Fund) allowed the services offered to be improved overall, extended to disabled children (for example by providing psychological help) and provided free of charge. EU funds also helped towards funding the cross-national Tiny Signers project, including the mutual learning activities.

There is currently the possibility to make use of further European funding. In the current European Social Fund period (2014–2020), some 20% of the funding has been earmarked for social inclusion activities, including those taking place within ECEC settings. Similarly, the new Erasmus+ programme also provides for the funding of workforce mobility schemes and cooperation projects, among other projects. Finally, it may be possible to fund the construction of ECEC centres and other infrastructure through the  $\[mathebox{\em e}\]$ 315 billion European Fund for Strategic Investments announced by President of the European Commission Jean-Claude Juncker in late 2014.

#### **Evaluation**

Evaluating inclusive practices properly is also important for their sustainability, as it is easier to ensure funding when an initiative is undoubtedly beneficial and effective. As a prerequisite for case studies to be selected, it was stipulated that they should have undergone some type of evaluation. Overall, it proved difficult to find case studies of good practice that had been evaluated. This is particularly true in cases dealing with additional resources for children with learning difficulties, probably due to the fact that learning difficulties are frequently detected at a later age than that covered by the study. Moreover, many of the initiatives are small pilot projects implemented at the municipal level, and therefore unsuitable for randomised control trials (RCT) due to the sample size and the lack of funding.

Since there is now more emphasis at the political level on encouraging evidence-based evaluation of programme outcomes, including in the long term (European Commission 2013b, p. 10), it is useful to analyse some of the existing evaluations of inclusive practices to assess their strengths and weaknesses.

As shown in Chapter 5 of this report, a wide range of evaluations was used in the 15 case studies included. Regarding the robustness of the evaluation methodology, most of the case studies evaluated (12) included a pre- and post-intervention measurement, with some also including a measurement of progress at an interim stage. Only two case studies included some type of long-term follow-up measurement (after six months) to capture the long-term effect of interventions. Many evaluations made it possible to capture the unintended consequences of interventions, particularly those using open-ended or semi-structured questionnaires. On the other hand, those case studies using standardised academic tests or quantitative methods did not cover unintended consequences to the same extent. It follows that monitoring processes and the follow-up of long-term impacts are two areas of potential improvement. One possible way of doing this is by using validated tools for

testing children's development and well-being as a method for establishing valid effect data. This approach is currently being worked into more robust evaluations – for example in the current Danish project on the future of daycare (Fremtidens Dagtilbud), where validated international test tools have been further developed and will be used for assessing children's socioemotional and linguistic development.

In relation to the independence of the evaluations, it must be noted that just over half were carried out by an independent contractor. This was the case in four out of five evaluations of additional resources for children with disadvantages, while most of the evaluation of resources for children with learning difficulties or making services inclusive for all children were done by staff linked to the project. In some of the cases that were not assessed by an independent evaluator, this was mitigated by using standardised development assessments or involving an academic in the evaluation process.

One issue of particular concern is the extent to which evaluations include the voice of the service recipients. Overall, the evaluations of case studies were better at gathering the views of stakeholders such as parents or ECEC practitioners than those of children. One case (Tiny Signers) gathered feedback from children, but only from hearing children – hence capturing only a limited insight into the effectiveness of the programme.

## **Bibliography**

Almeida, A., Aguiar, C. and Pinto, A. (2012), 'Comportamentos interactivos das educadoras de infância em salas de creche em função do tipo de actividades e das características estruturais do contexto' [Teachers' interactive behaviours in day-care for toddlers in relation to the type of activity and the structural characteristics of the settings], Da Investigação às Práticas, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 94–117.

Andrzejewska, J. (2011), 'Cognitive competences of 5-year olds' [translation from Polish], in Sowińska, H. (ed.), *Dziecko w szkolnej rzeczywistości. Założony a rzeczywisty obraz edukacji elementarnej* [The child in the school reality. Planned versus real picture of elementary education], Poland.

Ang, L. (2012), 'Leading and managing in the early years: A study of the impact of a NCSL Programme on children's centre leaders' perceptions of leadership and practice', *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, Vol. 40, pp. 289–304.

Aubrey, C., Ghent, K. and Kanira, E. (2012), 'Enhancing thinking skills in early childhood', *International Journal of Early Years Education*, Vol. 20, No. 4, pp. 332–348.

Bambra, C. (2007), 'Defamilisation and welfare state regimes: A cluster analysis', *International Journal of Social Welfare*, Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 326–638.

Baxter, J. and Hand, K. (2013), *Access to early childhood education in Australia*. Research Report No. 24, Australian Institute of Family Studies, Melbourne.

Beller, E. K., Merkens, H. and Preissing, C. (2007), *Systematische sprachliche Anregung im Kindergartenalltag zur Erhöhung der Bildungschancen 4- und 5-jähriger Kinder aus sozialschwachen und Migrantenfamilien – eine pädagogische Intervention* [Final report of a qualification programme of educators for enhancing the language stimulation in ECEC institutions – an intervention study]. Projektantrag, unveröffentlicht.

Beller, S. and Beller, E. K. (2009), Systematische sprachliche Anregung im Kindergartenalltag zur Erhöhung der Bildungschancen 4- und 5-jähriger Kinder aus sozial schwachen und Migrantenfamilien – ein Modell der pädagogischen Intervention. Freie Universität Berlin; Internationalen Akademie für innovative Pädagogik und Ökonomie gGmbH.

Bennett, J. (2012), ECEC for children from disadvantaged backgrounds: Findings from a European literature review and two case studies, European Commission Directorate-General for Education and Culture, Brussels.

Blatchford, P., Moriarty, V., Edmonds, S. and Martin, C. (2001/2002), 'Relationships between class size and teaching: A multimethod analysis of English infant schools', *American Educational Research Journal*, Vol. 39, No. 1, pp. 101–132.

Bleach, J. (2013), 'Using action research to support quality early years practice', *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, Vol. 21, No. 3, pp. 370–379.

Blenkin, G. and Hutchin, V. (1998), 'Action research, child observations and professional development: some evidence from a research project', *Early Years: An International Research Journal*, Vol. 19, No. 1.

Booth, T., Ainscow, M. and Kingston, D. (2006), *Index for Inclusion – Early Years and childcare*, CSIE, Bristol.

Burger, K. (2010), 'How does early childhood care and education affect cognitive development? An international review of the effects of early interventions for children from different social backgrounds', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, Vol. 25, pp. 140–165.

Buschmann, A. and Joos, B. (2011), 'Alltagsintegrierte Sprachförderung in der Kinderkrippe. Effktivität eines sprachsbasierten Interaktionstrainings für pädagogische Fachpersonal' [Integrated everyday language training in the nursery . Effktivität a speech-based interaction training for educational staff '], *Verhaltenstherapie und psychosoziale Praxis*, Vol. 2, pp. 303–312.

Campbell Collaboration (2004), *Research design policy brief*, Campbell Collaboration Steering Committee, Oslo.

Cardoso, M. G. (2012), *Criando contextos de qualidade em creche: ludicidade e aprendizagem*, PhD thesis in Child Studies (specialisation in methodolgy and supervisión in Childhood Education) Universidade do Minho.

Cho, E. (2014), 'Defamilization typology re-examined: Re-measuring the economic independence of women in welfare states', *Journal of European Social Policy*, Vol. 24, No. 5, pp. 442–454.

Clark, S. (2012), Brief overview. The situation of people with ADHD in Europe: access to treatment options and disability law protection, ADHD Europe.

CoRe (2011), Competences requirements in early childhood education and care – A study for the European Commission Directorate General for Education and Culture, University of East London, University of Ghent.

Craig, P., Dieppe, P., Macintyre, S., Michie, S., Nazareth, I. and Petticrew, M. (2008), 'Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance', *British Medical Journal* 337.

Cryer, D., Tietze, W., Burchinal, M., Leal, T. and Palacios, J. (1999), 'Predicting process quality from structural quality in preschool programs: a cross-country comparison', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 339–361.

Deluca, M. (2012), Children with disabilities, learning difficulties and disadvantages: Review and analysis of cross-national statistics and indicators during compulsory education, Leonard Cheshire Disability and Inclusive Development Centre, University College London.

EADSNE (2010), Early childhood intervention – Progress and developments, 2005–2010, European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education, available at: https://www.european-agency.org/publications/ereports/early-childhood-intervention-progress-and-developments/early-childhood-intervention-progress-and-developments

Early Years Education Policy Unit (2014), Sessional services – Standard 11: Professional practice, webpage, Department of Education and Skills, Dublin, available at http://siolta.ie/services\_standard11.php

Ebersold, Serge (2011), *Inclusive education for young disabled people in Europe: Trends, issues and challenges*, National Higher Institute for training and research on special needs education (INSHEA).

EC Childcare Network (1991), *Quality in early learning and childcare services*, Papers from the European Commission Childcare Network.

Esping-Andersen, G. (1990), The three worlds of welfare capitalism, Polity, London.

Esping-Andersen, G. (1999), *Social foundations of post-industrial economies*, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Eurofound (2012), *Quality of life in Europe: Impacts of the crisis*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

Eurofound (2013), *Third European Quality of Life Survey – Quality of society and public services*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

Eurofound (2014a), *Third European Quality of Life Survey – Families in the economic crisis*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

Eurofound (2014b), Early childhood education and care: Working conditions and training opportunities, Dublin.

Eurofound (2015), Early childhood care: working conditions, training and quality of services – A systematic review, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

European Commission (2005), *Some elements about the prevalence of autism spectrum disorders* (ASD) in the European Union, Directorate-General Health and Consumer Protection.

European Commission (2006), *Efficiency and equity in European education and training systems*, COM(2006) 481 final, Brussels.

European Commission (2008a), *Improving competences for the 21st Century: An Agenda for European Cooperation on* Schools, COM(2008) 425 final, Brussels.

European Commission (2008b), European pact for mental health and well-being – EU high-level conference Together for mental health and wellbeing – Brussels, 12–13 June 2008, conference statement, European Commission, Slovenian Presidency 2008 and World Health Organization.

European Commission (2010), An EU Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies up to 2020, COM(2011) 173 final, Brussels.

European Commission (2011a), Early childhood education and care: Providing all our children with the best start for the world of tomorrow, COM(2011) 66 final, Brussels.

European Commission (2011b), *Progress towards the common European objectives in education and training for 2010/2011 – Indicators and benchmarks*, Commission Staff Working Document, Brussels.

European Commission (2013a), Support for children with special educational needs (SEN), Rand Corporation.

European Commission (2013b), *Investing in children: Breaking the cycle of disadvantage*, COM(2013) 778 final, Brussels.

European Commission (2014a), *Proposal for key principles of a Quality Framework for Early Childhood Education and Care*. Report of the Working Group on Early Childhood Education and Care under the auspices of the European Commission.

European Commission (2014b), Report on the implementation of the EU framework for National Roma integration strategies, Brussels.

European Council (2009a), Council conclusions of 12 May 2009 on a strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training ('ET 2020'), (2009/C 119/02), Brussels.

European Council (2009b), Conclusions of 26 November 2009 on the education of children with a migrant background, 2009/C 301/07, Brussels.

Eurydice (2009), Early childhood education and care in Europe: Tackling social and cultural inequalities, EACEA, Eurydice, Brussels:

Eurydice/European Commission/EACEA/Eurostat (2014), *Key Data on early childhood education and care in Europe – 2014 edition. Eurydice and Eurostat report*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

Evanschitzky, P. Lohr, C. and Hille, K. (2008), 'Mathematische und naturwissenschaftlich-technische Bildung im Kindergarten. Untersuchung der Wirksamkeit einer beruflichen Weiterbildung von Erzieherinnen', *Diskurs Kindheits- und Jugendforschung*, Vol. 4, pp. 469–481.

Flewitt, R. and Nind, M. (2007), 'Parents choosing to combine special and inclusive early years settings: The best of both worlds?', *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, Vol. 22, No. 4, pp. 425–441.

Franco Justo, C. (2008), 'Programa de relajación y de mejora de autoestima en docentes de educación infantil y su relación con la creatividad de sus alumnos' [Programme of relaxation and self-esteem improvement in kindergarten teachers and their relationship with the creativity of their students], *Revista Iberoamericana de Educación*, Vol. 45, No. 1.

Fukkink, R. and Tavecchio, L. (2010), 'Effects of video interaction guidance on early childhood teachers', *Teaching and Teacher Education*, Vol. 26, No. 8, pp. 1652–1659.

Fukkink, R. G. and Lont, A. (2007), 'Does training matter? A meta-analysis and review of caregiver training studies', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, Vol. 22, pp. 294–311.

Fundamental Rights Agency (2012), *The situation of Roma in 11 EU Member States – Survey results at a glance*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

George, A. and Bennett, A. (2005), Case studies and theory development in social sciences, MIT Press.

Gough, D., Tripney, J., Kenny, C. and Buk-Berger, E. (2011), Evidence informed policymaking in education in Europe – EIPEE final project report, University of London.

Gough, D., Oliver, S. and Thomas, J. (2012), An introduction to systematic reviews, Sage, London.

Hayes, N., Siraj-Blatchford, I., Keegan, S. and Goulding E. (2013), *Evaluation of the Early Years programme of the Childhood Development Initiative*, Childhood Development Initiative, Dublin.

Hidasi, J. (2010), *A successful kindergarten model in Hungary*, Child Research Net, available at http://www.childresearch.net/projects/ecec/2010\_08.html

Hinz, A. (2002), 'Von der Integration zur Inklusion – terminologisches Spiel oder konzeptionelle Weiterentwicklung?', *Zeitschrift für Heilpädagogik*, Vol. 53, No. 9, pp. 354–361.

Huntsman, L. (2008), *Determinants of quality in childcare: A review of the research evidence*, Centre for Parenting and Research, NSW Department of Community Services, Ashfield, New South Wales.

Jensen, B. et al (2013), 'Effectiveness of a Danish early year preschool program: A randomized trial', *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol. 62, pp. 115–128.

Johansson, I., Sandberg, A. and Vuorinen, T. (2007), 'Practitioner-oriented research as a tool for professional development', *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, Vol. 15, No. 2. Pp. 151–166.

Jopling, M., Whitmarsh, J. and Hadfield, M. (2013), 'The challenges of evaluation: Assessing early talk's impact on speech language and communication practice in children's centres', *International Journal of Early Years Education*, Vol. 21, No. 1, pp. 70–84.

Kamerman, S. (2003), Welfare States, family policies and early childhood education, care and family support: Options for the central and eastern European (CEE) and Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) Countries (prepared for the Consultation Meeting on Family Support Policy in Central and Eastern Europe organised by the Council of Europe and UNESCO, 3-5 September, Budapest, Hungary), Clearinghouse on International Developments in Child, Youth and Family Policies, Columbia University.

Klaus, S., and Marsh, A. (2014), 'A special challenge for Europe: the inclusion of Roma children in early years education and care', *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, Vol. 22, No. 3, pp. 336–346, DOI: 10.1080/1350293X.2014.912896

Korpi, W. (2000), 'Faces of inequality: Gender, class and patterns of inequalities in different types of welfare states', *Social Politics*, Vol. 7, pp. 127–191.

Kron, M. (ed.) (2008), Early childhood in inclusive settings. Basis, background and framework of inclusive early education in five European countries – France, Germany, Hungary, Portugal and Sweden, ZPE, Siegen, Germany.

Lazzari A. and Vandenbroeck, M. (2012), Early childhood education and care (ECEC) in promoting educational attainment including social development of children from disadvantaged backgrounds and in fostering social inclusion – Appendix 1, Literature review on the participation of disadvantaged children and families in ECEC services in Europe, EIESP, Paris, review available at http://bookshop.europa.eu/en/early-childhood-education-and-care-ecec-in-promoting-educational-attainment-including-social-development-of-children-from-disadvantaged-backgrounds-and-in-fostering-social-inclusion-pbNC0313210/

Leal, R. A. (2011), Formando o cidadão desde o jardim-de-infância: o contributo das práticas de avaliação das aprendizagens dos educadores de infância em colaboração com a família , University of Aveiro, Department of Education.

Lecendreux, M. (2013), Prevalence du TDAH en France, HypersSupers TDAH France, Paris.

Leitner, S. (2003), 'Varieties of familialism: The caring function of the family in comparative perspective', *European Societies*, Vol. 5, No. 4, pp. 353–375.

Lera, M. (1996), 'Education under five in Spain: A study of preschool classes in Seville', *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 139–150.

Lino, D. (2005), *Da formação escolar à formação em contexto: um percurso de inovação para a reconstrução da pedagogia da infancia*, PhD thesis in Child Studies, Universidade do Minho.

Litjens, I. and Taguma, M. (2010), Literature overview for the 7th meeting of the OECD Network on Early Childhood Education and Care, OECD, Paris.

MAS (2007), Analyse van het zoekproces van ouders naar een voorschoolse kinderopvangplaats [Analysis of the search process from parents to a preschool childcare place], Market Analysis & Synthesis, Leuven.

Matson, J. L. and Kozlowski, A. M. (2011), 'The increasing prevalence of autism spectrum disorders', *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 418–425.

McMillan, D., Walsh, G., Gray, C., Hanna, K., Carville, S. and McCracken, O. (2012), 'Changing mindsets: The benefits of implementing a professional development model in early childhood settings in Ireland', *Professional Development in Education*, Vol. 38, No. 3, pp. 395–410.

Menmuir, J. and Christie, D. (1999), 'Encouraging professional reflection in early education', *International Journal of Early Years Education*, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 61–75.

Mitchell, L., Wylie, C. and Carr, M. (2008), *Outcomes of early childhood education: Literature review*, New Zealand Council for Educational Research.

Montie, J. E. et al (2006), 'Preschool experience in 10 countries: Cognitive and language performance at age 7', Early Childhood Research Quarterly, Vol. 21.

Munton, T., Mooney, A., Moss, P., Petrie, P., Clark, A. and Woolner, J. (2002), *International review of research on ratios, group size and staff qualifications and training in early years and childcare settings,* Thomas Coram Research Unit, University of London, London.

NESSE (2012), Education and disability – Special needs policies and practices in education, training and employment for students with disabilities and special educational needs in the EU, Network of Experts in Social Sciences of Education and training.

Nutbrown, C. and Clough, P. (2004), 'Inclusion and exclusion in the early years: conversations with European educators', *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, Vol. 19, No. 3, pp. 301–315.

Oberhuemer, P. and Schreyer, I. (2010), *Kita-Fachpersonale in Europa: Ausbildungen und Professionsprofile*, Barbara Budrich Publishers, Opladen and Farmington Hills, MI.

Oberhuemer, P., Schreyer, I. and Neuman, M. (eds.) (2010), *Professionals in early childhood education and care systems*, Barbara Budrich Publishers, Opladen and Farmington Hills, MI.

OEAR (2013), Alternative report on the implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in Austria, Austrian National Council of Persons with Disabilities, Vienna

OECD (1999), *Inclusive education at work*, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris.

OECD (2001), *Starting Strong I: Early childhood education and care*, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, Paris.

OECD (2005), Students with disabilities, learning difficulties and disadvantages:, Statistics and indicators, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris.

OECD (2006), *Starting Strong II: Early childhood education and care*, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris.

OECD (2007), Students with disabilities, learning difficulties and disadvantages: Policies, statistics and indicators, OECD, Paris.

OECD (2009), Students with disabilities, learning difficulties and disadvantages in the Baltic states, South Eastern Europe and Malta: Educational policies and indicators, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, Paris.

OECD (2012), Starting Strong III: A quality toolbox for early childhood education and care, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris.

Oliveira-Formosinho, J. and Araújo, S. (2011), 'Early education for diversity: starting from birth', *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, Vol. 19, No. 2, pp. 223–235.

Palmerus, K. (1996), 'Child–caregiver ratios in day care center groups: Impact on verbal interactions', *Early Child Development and Care*, Vol. 118, No. 1, pp. 45–57.

PCS (2012), *External evaluation – Impact evaluation of Roma Education Fund*, Project Cycle Support GmbH and AppRaisal Consulting RV Helsinki.

Peeters, J. (1993), 'Kwaliteitsverbeteringen in de kinderdagverblijven met steun van de Bernard van Leer Foundation' [Quality improvements in health care centres supported by the Bernard van Leer Foundation], in J. Peeters and M. Vandenbroeck (eds.), *Werken aan een betere kinderopvang. Rapport over dertien jaar onderzoek en vorming*, University of Ghent, VBJK, Ghent. pp. 39–79.

Peeters, J. and Vandenbroeck, M. (2011), 'Childcare practitioners and the process of professionalization', in Miller, L. and Cable, C., *Professionalization and management in the early years*, Sage, London, pp. 62–74.

Peters, S. J. (2003), *Inclusive education:* Achieving education for all by including those with disabilities and special education needs, prepared for the Disability Group, World Bank, Washington DC.

Picchio, M., Giovannini, D., Mayer, S. and Musatti, T. (2012), 'Documentation and analysis of children's experience: An ongoing collegial activity for early childhood professionals', *Early Years*, Vol. 32, No. 2, pp. 159–170.

Potter, C. and Hodgson, S. (2007), 'Nursery nurses reflect: Sure Start training to enhance adult child interaction', *Reflective Practice*, Vol. 8, No. 4, pp. 497–509.

Pugnaghi, A. (2014), 'Valutare la relazione educativa nella scuola dell'infanzia: una ricerca in Provincia di Modena' ['Evaluating the quality of teacher—child interactions in pre-school Research carried out in Modena province'], *Orientamenti Pedagogici*, Vol. 61, No. 1.

Purper-Ouakil, D. et al (2007), 'Predictors of diagnostic delay in a clinical sample of French children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder', *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, Vol. 16, No. 8, pp. 505–9.

Rand Europe (2013), Support for children with special educational needs, report for the European Commission, DG Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion, .

Rentzou, K. and Sakellariou, M. (2011), 'The quality of early childhood educators: Children's interaction in Greek childcare centres', *Early Childhood Education Journal*, Vol. 38, No. 5, pp. 367–376.

Rhodes, S. and Hennessy, E. (2001), 'The effects of specialized training on caregivers and children in early-years settings: An evaluation of the foundation course in playgroup practice', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 559–576.

Richter, K. (2012), *Naturwissenschaftliche Förderkompetenz von Elementarpädagogen* [Teaching competence of preschool teachers in the field of natural science], Optimus Verlag, Göttingen.

Rönnerman, K. (2003), 'Action research: educational tools and the improvement of practice', *Educational Action Research*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 9–21.

Rönnerman, K. (2008), Medvetet Kvalitetsarbete. En uppföljning av kursen Q i förskolan och dess inverkan på förskollärares handlingar i praktiken. Gothenburg University, Department of Pedagogy and Didactic, Gothenburg.

Ruíz de Miguel, C. and García García, M. (2004), 'Modelo explicativo de factores vinculados a la calidad en educación infantil', *Revista de Investigación Educativa*, Vol. 22, No. 2, pp. 497–518.

Sajaniemi, N., Suhonen, E. and Kontu, E. (2010), 'Verbal and non-verbal development in SLI children after early intervention', *Early Child Development and Care*, Vol. 180, No. 4, pp. 519–534.

Sandstrom, H. (2012), 'The characteristics and quality of pre-school education in Spain', *International Journal of Early Years Education*, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 130–158.

Sheridan, S. (2001), 'Quality evaluation and quality enhancement in preschool: A model of competence development', *Early Child Development and Care*, Vol. 166, No. 1, pp. 7–27.

Sheridan, S., Willams, P. and Sandberg, A. (2013), 'Systematic quality work in preschool', *International Journal of Early Childhood*, Vol. 45, No. 1, pp. 123–150.

Simon, S. and Sächse, S. (2011), 'Anregung der Sprachentwicklung durch ein Interaktionstraining für Erzieherinnen' [Promoting language skills in daycare. Can interaction training improve childhood educators' language-promoting behaviour?], *Diskurs Kindheits- und Jugendforschung Heft*, Vol. 4, pp. 379–397

SQW (2012), Evaluation of the 3,4,5 Learning Years Service – Youngballymun (Ireland).

Sundell, K. (2000), 'Examining Swedish profit and nonprofit childcare: The relationships between adult-to-child ratio, age composition in child care classes, teaching and children's social and cognitive achievements', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 91–114.

Takala, M., Pirttimaa, R., Törmänen, M., 'Inclusive special education: the role of special education teachers in Finland', *British Journal of Special Education*, Vol. 36, No. 3, 2009, p. 163.

Tietze, W. et al (eds.) (2013), Nationale Untersuchung zur Bildung, Betreuung und Erziehung in der frühen Kindheit (NUBBEK) [National study on education, care and upbringing in early childhood], Verlag Das Netz, Berlin.

UNESCO (1994), The Salamanca statement and framework for action on special needs education, Paris.

UNESCO (2005), Guidelines for inclusion: Ensuring access to education for all, Paris.

UNESCO and Council of Europe (2014), *Inclusion from the start – Guidelines on inclusive early childhood care and education for Roma children.* 

Vandell, D. and Wolfe, B. (2000), *Childcare quality: Does it matter and does it need to be improved?*, Institute for Research on Poverty, Special Report No. 78, University of Wisconsin-Madison.

Vandenbroeck, M., De Visscher, S., Van Nuffel, K. and Ferla, J. (2008), 'Mothers' search for infant childcare: The dynamic relationship between availability and desirability in a continental European welfare state', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, Vol. 23, pp. 245–258.

Vandenbroeck, M., Geens, N. and Berten, H. (2013), 'The impact of policy measures and coaching on the availability and accessibility of early childcare: a longitudinal study', *International Journal of Social Welfare*, Vol. 23, No. 1, pp. 69–79.

Vandenbroeck, M. and Lazzari, A. (2014), 'Accessibility of early childhood education and care: A state of affairs', *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, Vol. 22, No. 3, pp. 327–335.

Van Keulen, A. (2010), 'The early childhood educator in a critical learning community: Towards sustainable change', *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 106–112.

Vonta, T., Rutar, S., Istenič Starčič, A. in Borota, B. (2007), *Mentorstvo v profesionalnem razvoju učitelja in vzgojitelja*, Faculty of Education, University of Primorska, Koper.

Vujičić, L. (2008), 'Research and improvement of one's own practice – ways to develop teachers'/ preschool teachers' practical competence', in Žogla, I. *Teacher of the 21st century: Quality education for quality teaching*, University of Latvia Press, Riga, pp. 184–194.

WFMH (World Federation for Mental Health) (2004), *ADHD impacts entire family: Parents urge for faster diagnosis*, press release, Berlin, 24 August.

WHO/UNICEF (2012), Early childhood development and disability: Discussion paper, World Health Organisation, Geneva.

Wood, E. and Bennett, N. (2000), 'Changing theories, changing practice: Exploring early childhood teachers' professional learning', *Teaching and Teacher Education*, Vol. 16, No. 5–6, pp. 635–647.

Zaroff, C. M., and Uhm, S. Y. (2011), 'Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders and influence of country of measurement and ethnicity', *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, Vol. 47, No. 3, pp. 395–398.

Zaslow, M., Tout, K., Halle, T., Whittaker, J. V. and Lavelle, B. (2010), *Toward the identification of features of effective professional development for early childhood educators: Literature review*, US Department of Education, Office of Planning, Evaluation and Policy Development, Policy and Program Studies Service, Washington, DC.

# Annex 1

Table A1: Overview of studies included in the synthesis (n = 44)

Country	Study ID	Intervention studied	Study design	Soundness/usefulness and reliability of the study
Portugal	Cardoso (2012)	CPD	Qualitative	High/High
	Craveiro (2007)	CPD	Mixed-method	High/High
	Leal (2011)	CPD	Qualitative	High/Medium
	Lino (2005)	CPD	Mixed-method	High/Medium
	Peixoto (2007)	CPD	Qualitative	High/High
	Oliveira-Formosinho and Araújo (2011)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Low
	Ang (2012)	CPD	Qualitative	High/Medium
	Aubrey et al (2012)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Low
United Kingdom	Blatchford et al (2001/2002)	WC	Mixed-method	Sound, despite discrepancy with quality criteria. High/High
	Blenkin and Hutchin (1998)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Medium
	Jopling et al (2013)	CPD	Qualitative	High/High
	Menmuir and Christie (1999)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Medium
	Potter and Hodgson (2007)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Low
	Wood and Bennett (2000)	CPD	Qualitative	High/High
	Bleach (2013)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Low
	Hayes et al (2013)	CPD and WC	Mixed-method	Sound Medium/Medium
Ireland	McMillan et al (2012)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Medium
Ireland	Rhodes and Hennessy (2001)	CPD	Quantitative	Sound, despite discrepancy with quality criteria
	Share et al (2011)	CPD	Qualitative	High/High
	SQW (2012)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Low
Sweden	Asplund Carlsson et al (2008)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Medium
	Johansson et al (2007)	CPD	Qualitative	High/Medium
	Palmerus (1996)	WC	Quantitative	Sound, despite discrepancy with quality criteria.
	Rönnerman (2003)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Low
	Rönnerman (2008)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Medium
	Sheridan (2001)	CPD	Quantitative	Sound, despite discrepancy with quality criteria.
	Sheridan et al (2013)	CPD	Qualitative	High/High
	Sundell (2000)	WC	Quantitative	Sound

Country	Study ID	Intervention studied	Study design	Soundness/usefulness and reliability of the study
Germany	Beller et al (2007/2009)	CPD	Quantitative	Sound
	Buschmann and Joos (2011)	CPD	Quantitative	Sound, despite discrepancy with quality criteria.
	Evanschitzky et al (2008)	CPD	Quantitative	Sound
	Richter (2012)	CPD	Mixed-method	High/High
	Simon and Sächse (2011)	CPD	Quantitative	Sound
Spain	Franco Justo (2008)	CPD	Quantitative	Sound
	Sandstrom (2012)	WC	Mixed-method	High/Medium
Netherlands	Fukkink and Tavecchio (2010)	CPD	Quantitative	Sound
	Van Keulen (2010)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Low
Belgium	Peeters (1993)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Low
	Peeters and Vandenbroeck (2011)	CPD	Qualitative	High/Medium
	Vandenbroeck et al (2008/2013)	CPD	Quantitative	Sound, despite discrepancy with quality criteria.
Italy	Picchio et al (2012)	CPD	Qualitative	High/Medium
	Vonta et al (2007)	CPD	Qualitative	High/Medium
Croatia	Vujičić (2008)	CPD	Qualitative	Medium/Low
Denmark	Jensen et al (2013)	CPD	Quantitative	Sound

Note: Quantitative studies included in the systematic review synthesis have been judged as sound or sound despite discrepancy with certain criteria. Views studies are appraised according to their usefulness and reliability.

# Annex 2: Additional resources provided

# **Teacher training**

#### **Tiny Signers, Austria**

In the European Tiny Signers programme, baby sign language training is provided for college students who want to become nursery school teachers. The course was developed on the basis of a previous course for parents and children. Participation in this four-unit training course was voluntary. In 2012, some 40 students took part in the course in Vienna. Most of the training was given to the students in the secondary professional school for childcare, and there was some in-service training for childcare professional staff and for the teachers in secondary professional schools for childcare. The training included modules on: language development in connection with signs, linguistic and cognitive aspects, use of visual languages, basic Austrian sign language and deaf culture, games and songs, team teaching (deaf and hearing teachers). In total the course covers 30–50 hours of instruction.

# Disabled children's access to childcare (DCATCH) pilots, UK

In the DCATCH initiative, training was not restricted to childcare providers but in many authorities was also targeted towards Family Information Service officers. Most authorities provided targeted training and support based on providers' and children's needs, such as training focused on specific forms of disability. Some authorities delivered basic disability awareness training to all childcare providers; other authorities developed inclusion toolkits. Training sessions were delivered by DCATCH staff, parents and social care and health professionals. Some local authorities, such as Barking and Dagenham, offered financial incentives (of between GBP 15 and GBP 30, or €21–€27 as at 17 April 2015) for those attending training sessions, whereas other authorities, such as Bedford Borough Council had a GBP 10 (€13) participation fee. Participation in training sessions was voluntary and in some authorities attendance at all of them resulted in attendance certificates. Bedford Borough Council offered the following training sessions: 1) Cerebral Palsy in Depth; 2) Behaviour and the Brain and Introduction to Epilepsy; 3) Equality and Diversity with Children's Rights; 4) Parents as Partners; 5) Play for All; and Communication for All.

#### Early intensive behavioural intervention (EIBI), Sweden and Norway

The staff and parent training was conducted by experts from the Banyan Center, which focuses on children with an autism spectrum diagnosis. Stakeholders attended workshops to gain a theoretical insight into EIBI. Along with lectures on theory, practice-oriented role plays prepared them for their tasks. During the intervention, hands-on supervision was provided to the therapists and parents as well as nursery staff.

#### **Nuffield Early Language Intervention, UK**

Training is provided by a charity (I CAN) that has developed a licensing programme through which speech and language therapists, specialist teachers, educational advisors, special education needs coordinators (SENCOs) and language unit teachers or educational psychologists and specialist early years practitioners become I CAN licensed tutors. I CAN licensed tutors receive training on how to implement the Nuffield Early Language Intervention, so that they can support schools or other ECEC settings that wish to implement it. Schools and other settings that employ an I CAN licensed tutor can gain I CAN accreditation, a nationally recognised quality assurance scheme confirming that a school or other setting meets the communication needs of the enrolled children. Licensees are required to attend a continuing professional development (CPD) event once every two years, for

which there is a cover fee of GBP 50 ( $\in$ 70). I CAN licences are given for three years for an annual fee of GBP 60 ( $\in$ 83). The material resources for the intervention, including the intervention manuals, can also be purchased through I CAN.

#### Improving access to childcare for disadvantaged groups, Belgium

Various training programmes were included in this study. One course focused on a range of factors related to improving the understanding and interaction skills of childcare staff with children from disadvantaged backgrounds. These include diversity, reflective practices, use of language, development of more welcoming attitudes, becoming aware of prejudice and how to deal with it, working together with parents as partners in the education of the child and understanding culturally different elements in child rearing. To get everyone involved in a diversity stream of thinking, four or five team members, both child carers and managers, of each childcare centre were involved. The sessions were at the centres during working hours (during lunch).

A second course consisted of a two-day specific introductory training to introduce new managers of the childcare centres concerned to the context of working on diversity, social policy, roles and importance of childcare, parental involvement, and so on. By offering the training for free, all new managers were encouraged to take part. Even though the training did not provide any formal qualifications and rather served to raise awareness and knowledge, all new managers participated.

Throughout the project, staff received pedagogical coaching. Participants had homework to do, which stimulated them to stop and think about their own practice, to be more explicit on how they work, to elaborate on or make changes in their vision and mission. The intense coaching process was developed using a standardised model; it included a discussion of materials, and reflection went back and forth between the meetings of the coordinators and the coach and the team sessions in the centres. All participants were expected to regularly report on progress, on changes in their practice, on how they dealt with certain problems.

#### Social and emotional development of preschoolers with socio-cultural disadvantages, Czech Republic

Kindergarten teachers were trained to increase their professional skills in working with children from socially disadvantaged families and to increase cooperation with these families. The teachers learned new educational strategies: organising group activities, talking with children about their feelings and opinions and also to approach them with much more understanding.

#### ASP programme for socially vulnerable children, Denmark

The focus of this programme is on developing the pedagogical staff's skills and practice in working with socially vulnerable children. The intervention includes three activities: workshops, education and training in reflection groups, and conferences with pedagogical consultants. As part of the project, each year two workshops were organised in each municipality. On average there were 100 participants at each workshop with an average duration of six hours. As part of the education and training in reflection groups, each preschool decided how much time should be dedicated to working with knowledge and reflection. On average the preschools dedicated 17 hours to this, with three hours per session. Considerably less time was earmarked for reflection than was originally recommended. A consultant from a university college supported each preschool. Most of these consultants hold an MA in early childhood education or another relevant field. On average, each preschool was paid a visit by a consultant from a university college six times during the entire programme period. The university consultants supported the staff at the meetings in the reflection groups. The preschools were also supported by consultants from the municipality who assisted

preschool staff in using the knowledge base, developing practices in the reflection sessions, and implementing the improvements the staff had decided to implement. Finally, three conferences were held: one at the start of the programme in 2006, one mid-term in 2007, and one in 2008. At these conferences, preschool staff participated together with consultants from the university colleges, consultants from the municipalities and the researchers who were involved in the study. One seminar for all preschool staff was also arranged by each municipality at mid-term.

#### 'A good start', Hungary

There were two elements related to teacher training in the 'good start' model in Hungary: 1) involvement of student teachers as part of their practice training and 2) professional development training for kindergarten pedagogues ('preschool teachers'). The training introduced ECEC staff to a child-centred and holistic approach to child development and care. This included raising awareness of topics such as Roma culture and language, child-centred learning, monitoring child progress and creating links between preschool and primary school. The project also trained and supported community mediators and developed the home preschool community liaison (HSCL). The main rationale of HSCL was to support the cooperation and positive interaction between pedagogues in the ECEC centre and Roma parents by allowing the parents to be involved in the educational process through leading some of the preschool sessions. Altogether 17 HSCL sessions were held in Nyíregyháza and 47 in the Mátészalka region. Half-day training sessions were organised to support the preparations, where parents (mostly mothers) and kindergarten teachers jointly participated. Parents received counselling in preparation for their sessions and ECEC staff received training in running the programme. Capacity building included training on mentoring skills and fighting against biases and training on HSCL with ECEC staff. Altogether 57 ECEC teachers and 10 community mediators were trained. A third strand of teaching was financed by the LEGO Foundation and covered not just the LEGO charity boxes, but also training on developing fine motor skills and perception of forms and colours through construction. Altogether 32 ECEC teachers participated in this training.

# **Childhood Development Initiative (CDI), Ireland**

As part of the Irish project, the entire intervention group staff was trained in the HighScope programme and in Síolta – the national quality framework for early years services. Senior practitioners were required to hold a degree in early childhood care or equivalent. All other childcare staff were required to have at least certificate-level training.

The programme followed the HighScope curriculum, which is a flexible and broad-based curriculum that encourages children's holistic development and learning across a range of competencies (social, emotional, cognitive and language). It was implemented in all Early Years services delivering the CDI Early Years programme. In the first year of programme implementation, all Early Years practitioners received training in the HighScope curriculum concurrent to its delivery; therefore, they had only completely covered the entire curriculum by the end of the first year of programme implementation. In the second year, practitioners were no longer being trained in HighScope and were therefore fully trained while implementing the programme. Early years' practitioners identified HighScope training as the single most significant aspect of the CDI programme and many reported that it had revolutionised their practice. There was practically unanimous agreement that they could not 'go back' to any other approach once educated in the HighScope approach. Practitioners identified the freedom that the curriculum accorded to children and the inclusion of child interests as some of its main advantages.

In addition to training in the HighScope programme early years practitioners also participated in training on the implementation of the Síolta quality framework. While Síolta is a national framework there has been limited funding for training staff in implementing the standards in settings. Within CDI, practitioners were supported to implement Síolta in their settings by a Síolta coordinator. From 2009, 10 of the programme services worked with the Síolta coordinator to implement some or all of the Síolta standards. Three of these services were control services, while seven were intervention services. Intervention early years practitioners were less enthusiastic about the Síolta framework than they were about the HighScope curriculum. Engagement with Síolta involved a considerable amount of portfolio creation and documentation of evidence, and the process was time-consuming and administratively heavy. Notwithstanding this, many practitioners felt that training in the Síolta standards was worthwhile. They commented that the framework had offered added insights and learning opportunities for them, which would aid their practice in the long term.

#### Pilot inclusion project, Pirkkala municipality, Finland

Training was provided to the ECEC personnel participating in this pilot on several occasions, always during working hours. The first set of inclusion training was provided in 2006–2007 within the context of a project co-funded through a national programme for improving working conditions throughout Finland (Potpuri). In 2008–2010, a structured set of training initiatives were carried out within the framework of the pilot project on inclusion at the daycare centre where this initiative was piloted. These training initiatives included both tailored training to employees of different groups at the daycare centre based on their concrete needs, and more general training directed at all personnel.

More specifically, the general inclusion training included a day of general instruction on what inclusion is and how it can be understood, based in part on the Index for Inclusion developed by Booth et al (2006), which looks at values and practices at the workplace. The following days concentrated more specifically on inclusion in the specific daycare group, and the changes in the working environment that inclusion can bring about. With respect to the tailored training, this could for example consist of training in the use of sign language for groups dealing with children who have different types of communication difficulties. The general inclusion training was provided by a member of staff of the ECEC centre who evaluated the initiative as part of her PhD.

#### The Roskilde project – Inclusive daycare services, Denmark

To have the greatest effect, training was delivered to all staff rather than just team leaders or specific staff, so that a cultural change could take place within the whole organisation. The municipality project manager said this was based on previous experience indicating that to establish a proper cultural change in the organisations and have the new knowledge implemented in practice, it is necessary that everyone be, and feel, involved. In practice however, the participating institutions chose different strategies for the involvement of the personnel. In some cases this meant that all the staff in one kindergarten underwent training directly with the researchers, whereas in other ECEC centres only some staff attended training and then transferred the knowledge to other colleagues, also working with them to implement changes.

On the basis of a three-day training course, eight individual homework assignments were developed for and with the participating ECEC institutions, depending on the individual focus points chosen for their 'subprojects'. The common denominator was that they were all to use video observations and narratives in their documentation of different types of communities and social relations in their institutions. The teachers used video footage to identify and observe situations where a child would end up in a vulnerable position and risk exclusion. They then formulated so-called 'turning-point

narratives' to visualise to themselves when (and how) they had been successful in establishing change in the situation of a child they had previously perceived as vulnerable or problematic. To follow up on the training and the homework assignments, the researchers acted as consultants visiting the different institutions to collect their documentation material and to engage in reflections on the observations made and the changes achieved and how they might work to further implement the new understanding and methods.

#### 'A good childhood – a joint responsibility', Denmark

In this initiative, all employees in the various institutions involved were invited to take part in the different training activities offered. Besides training activities, a conference was planned for each year of the programme implementation, to get all project owners and participants together to take stock and reflect on the development. At the start of the programme four workshops were also organised for different target groups. For ECEC personnel, two workshops were organised on the topics: 'How can we support relations between children and parents?' and 'How can we support relations between children?'. In terms of the training offered, seven different courses were offered, across the programme activities, and there was an opportunity for selected members of staff (appointed as 'resource persons' in a school or at district level) to complete a diploma course in inclusive practices in schools and daycare. For ECEC personnel specifically, a training course was offered with the title 'Coherence and continuity in the child's life', which was directly linked to one of the central subprojects ('Continuity and coherence in children's life - transition between home, institution and school'). An inclusion game was also developed. The game creates space for reflection and dialogue, and it is designed so that different methods, such as role play, miming and debating, are brought into play. The game contains no concrete solutions on how to establish inclusive practice, but it helps participants share knowledge and experiences, and develop new ideas and actions that can subsequently be tested and adjusted in the daily educational practice.

# Specialised interventions/Individualised education plans

#### Language and activity-based intervention programme, Finland

The language and activity-based intervention programme on verbal and non-verbal performance and play behaviour in children diagnosed as having specific language impairment (SLI) in Helsinki was organised twice a week in groups of two to four children. It included teacher-guided joint physical activities with intentional use of language, sounds and rhythms (called KILI intervention) and instructed pair-play with toy characters (KUTTU intervention). They were based on two kinds of activities: 1) Teacher-guided joint physical activities with intentional use of language, sounds and rhythms; turn taking and intent participation are encouraged (KILI) and 2) Instructed pair-play with toy characters. Play pictures are were used when needed as prompts to find proper expressions and to understand the meanings. The instructors took part in the play indirectly by helping children to play together, by solving emerging problems with comments or by using pictures (KUTTU). All the sessions ended with calming relaxation.

#### The Nuffield Early Language Intervention, UK

The Nuffield Early Language Intervention targets three key skills areas: vocabulary knowledge, narrative skills and listening skills. These skills are targeted in order to create a solid foundation for the development of literacy. To improve these skills, the children receive training in spoken language skills as well as in letter-sound knowledge and phoneme awareness. The intervention takes place over 30 weeks and is given to groups of 2–4 children. The first 10 weeks take place in the final term of

nursery school, while the final 20 weeks take place in the reception class of primary school. During the first 10 weeks of the programme, the children receive three 15-minute sessions per week. In the remaining 20 weeks, the children take part in 30-minute group sessions, three times a week, as well as two 15-minute individual sessions per week. The first 20 weeks of the programme focus on spoken language skills, while the final 10 weeks also include work on letter-sound knowledge and phoneme awareness. The intervention was delivered by teaching assistants who were selected by the involved nurseries and schools. Before each 10-week intervention phase, the teaching assistants received two days of training, conducted by the research team. These training days focused on the delivery methods of the intervention as well as background information on oral language development. The teaching assistants also received a manual covering the intervention methods as part of this training. In addition to this training, the teaching assistants participated in fortnightly tutorials during the implementation in order to discuss any specific issues or questions regarding the implementation with the research team. The research team also regularly observed the teaching assistants while they delivered the intervention in order to monitor the quality of the implementation.

# Early intensive behavioural intervention (EIBI), Sweden and Norway

In Stockholm autistic children aged around four receive early intensive behavioral intervention (EIBI) in regular ECEC settings. The treatment is delivered by special needs teachers who have received the training from a centre specialised in this type of intervention. Staff from the centre also visit the ECEC services to oversee the treatment of children. Parents could also receive the training if they were interested in continuing the interventions at home. This treatment lasts for at least two years (with 20–40 hours of individualised instruction per week) and is based on applied behaviour analysis. It trains autistic children on areas such as communication and language, play and motor skills. The aim of this intervention is to teach autistic children skills that other children learn naturally.

#### Improving access to childcare for disadvantaged groups, Belgium

The Brussels project uses a tailored plan during a child's introductory period. The plan consists of communicating with the parents on the habits of the young children so that the child can quickly begin to feel at home in the daycare. This also promotes the relationship of trust between the centre and the parents and instils a shared sense of responsibility towards the education of the child.

# Social emotional development of preschoolers with socio-cultural disadvantages, Czech Republic

The inclusive education plans focus on the social and emotional development of the children and are designed to teach children set up and obey rules – rules of games as well as rules of communication and being together. Children are also taught to identify feelings and emotions such as what specifically has made them angry, to look for solutions, to learn to know their friends, to find out about friendship and how to cooperate.

# ASP programme for socially vulnerable children, Denmark

In this programme, teachers base their understanding of children, learning, social disadvantage and health on their participation in the practices of the preschool. They actively integrate new knowledge and reflections from education and training courses with their previous practice-based knowledge and experience.

#### The Childhood Development Initiative, Ireland

In Ireland all children at the intervention sites attended the basic service and children with speech or language needs received additional speech/language therapy. Staff were also trained by speech and language therapists to deliver special speech/language programmes where necessary.

# **Specialist support to ECEC staff**

#### Dr Jedlička Integrated Support Centre, Czech Republic

The methodological support for kindergartens focused especially on re-education, alternative and augmentative communication, and psychological care. The services included mainly counselling and expert consultations for educational staff (teachers) and diagnostics of children with disabilities. As a part of the diagnostics, employees of the centre identified the difficulties experienced by the children with disabilities and provided counselling for teachers and parents and advice on training and practising at home and at school. The centre cooperated with kindergartens in terms of a joint search for alternative ways of communication (such as sign language). Family therapy and counselling for children with handicaps were also offered to teachers in kindergartens. These support activities were mainly performed by special pedagogues and psychologists working for the centre.

#### Improving access to childcare for disadvantaged groups, Belgium

In the Belgian project, specialist support was provided in the form of learning communities, colleague groups discussing common issues and learning from each other, reflecting on their practices and supervision and pedagogical support in regional groups.

#### 'A good start', Hungary

In Hungary, specialist support to teachers included the work of mediators, the Home Preschool Community Liaison activities, the provision of educational (LEGO and DUPLO) bricks; Roma teaching assistants were also employed in the region of Nyíregyháza.

#### The Childhood Development Initiative, Ireland

All teachers in the intervention settings were paid for an extra two hours per week in addition to their standard contract to allow for in-service training, planning and reflection. These services focused on increasing accessibility for all children and in particular for children from vulnerable groups.

#### **Additional staff**

#### Improving access to childcare for disadvantaged groups, Belgium

For the Belgian project, a think tank was established on the social function of childcare. This provided the link between practice and policy and served as input on new policy measures and support system.

# 'A good start', Hungary

Additional resources in the form of staff to improve access to and attendance in ECEC services for Roma children consisted of using trained Roma community members as mediators to establish the link between the community and the institutions. They visited all families with young children in the locality and informed them about the benefits of ECEC and helped to form links between the families and the institutions. Altogether 1,398 visits were made to 139 families in the Nyíregyháza locality, and 5,151 visits were made to 408 families in the Mátészalka region. The regular visits throughout the duration of the project supported the communication and cooperation between parents and

ECEC centre staff, which in turn contributed to reducing attendance problems. In the Guszev ECEC centre, a Roma teaching assistant was employed for a year.

The Hungarian project also used a number of other additional resources such as support for home parenting, information campaigns to increase awareness of childcare among Roma children and enrolment assistance for children and their parents.

#### Pilot project for inclusion in the Pirkkala municipality, Finland

The decision to mainstream inclusive ECEC throughout the municipality was backed by employing additional ECEC special needs teachers. The municipality now employs four ECEC special needs teachers, in comparison to only one in 2004. The special needs teachers are all permanently employed and paid for by the municipality of Pirkkala. They are each associated with a geographical area of the municipality, covering a number of different daycare centres and circulating between them. This decision was based on the results of the pilot project carried out at Kurikankulma daycare centre, where it was assessed that more expertise in special needs education was needed throughout the municipality. This could be achieved by training staff and employing additional special needs teachers.

#### 'A good childhood', Denmark

In this initiative inclusion facilitators were appointed and trained. They were granted 80 working hours to contribute, in close cooperation with institution management, to developing the inclusion efforts in practice and to be 'on call' for institutions that felt they needed support.

# **Additional funding**

#### Improving access to childcare for disadvantaged groups, Belgium

The introduction in Flanders of the so-called 20% rule in 2008 has improved the accessibility for children from disadvantaged children, particularly in the Brussels Region. The rule requires all subsidised centres to reserve 20% of their places for several kinds of vulnerable groups, mainly low income families (including newcomers, refugees and migrant families) and one-parent families.

# 'A good start', Hungary

Financing for ECEC centres in Hungary comes partly as contribution from the state budget and partly from municipalities. Attendance is free, and parents pay only for the meals. Since 2009 legislation ensures a special social subsidy for children with multiple disadvantages who are enrolled in ECEC centres, which is available to cover the costs of clothing, education supplies and travel. Therefore, need-based material support (in other words, additional financial support) was not provided within the project in Hungary. However, with external resources from the Bernard van Leer Foundation, the scope of the project was widened in Nagyecsed in the second year of implementation. On the first occasion 166 families (254 children) received personalised support packages and on the second occasion 182 families (280 children) were supported.

#### The Childhood Development Initiative, Ireland

In Ireland, the Intervention sites were funded to allow for training, additional hours of work per week, the provision of on-site speech and language therapy services and the appointment of a parent/carer facilitator (PCF). Children were also offered a summer programme during the month of July.

European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions

#### Early childhood care: Accessibility and quality of services

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2015

 $2015 - 82 \text{ pp.} - 21 \times 29.7 \text{ cm}$ 

ISBN 978-92-897-1375-7 doi:10.2806/53824

# **HOW TO OBTAIN EU PUBLICATIONS**

#### Free publications:

- one copy: via EU Bookshop (http://bookshop.europa.eu);
- more than one copy or posters/maps:
  from the European Union's representations (http://ec.europa.eu/represent\_en.htm);
  from the delegations in non-EU countries (http://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/index\_en.htm);
  by contacting the Europe Direct service (http://europa.eu/europedirect/index\_en.htm) or
  calling 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (freephone number from anywhere in the EU) (\*).

(\*) The information given is free, as are most calls (though some operators, phone boxes or hotels may charge you).

#### **Priced publications:**

• via EU Bookshop (http://bookshop.europa.eu).

Access to early childhood education and care (ECEC) services and the quality of such services are important issues that are gaining greater prominence in the EU. This study presents evidence on the elements of working conditions and inservice training that increase the quality of ECEC. Concerning the accessibility of ECEC services, the report describes good practices gathered in the form of case studies that have been evaluated and that describe additional resources for the inclusion in mainstream ECEC services of children with disabilities or learning difficulties, those in a vulnerable social situation and those who belong to disadvantaged groups.

The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Eurofound) is a tripartite European Union Agency, whose role is to provide knowledge in the area of social and work-related policies. Eurofound was established in 1975 by Council Regulation (EEC) No. 1365/75, to contribute to the planning and design of better living and working conditions in Europe.



ISBN: 978-92-897-1375-7 doi:10.2806/53824